Running head.	CANNABIS	ACUTE ADV	VERSE REACTI	ONS

Simultaneous Polysubstance Use, Trait Affect, Body Composition, and their Associations with

Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis

Shayna Cummings

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Psychological Science

Department of Psychology

Lakehead University

September 16<sup>th</sup>, 2021

**Supervisory Committee:** 

Supervisor: Dr. Dwight Mazmanian

Internal Examiner: Dr. Michel Bédard

External Examiner: Dr. Kirsten Oinonen

#### **Abstract**

In 2020, nearly 6.2 million people in Canada aged 15 and older reported using cannabis in the last three months (Statistics Canada, 2021). However, some individuals who consume cannabis may be more prone than others to experiencing acute (i.e., short-term) adverse reactions to cannabis (e.g., paranoia, anxiousness). The primary purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between simultaneous polysubstance use and trait affect on experienced acute adverse reactions to cannabis. An exploratory aim was to examine the potential relationship between body composition and acute adverse reactions to cannabis. The study was a web-based survey, hosted by SurveyMonkey, using a cross-sectional design. Lakehead University students and the general public across Canada participated in this study (N = 456). Pearson productmoment correlations, independent samples t-tests, and hierarchical multiple regression analyses were performed to examine the relationships between simultaneous polysubstance use, trait affect, body composition, and acute adverse reactions to cannabis. Simultaneous use of cannabis and alcohol, trait negative affect, and lower body weight were positively associated with experiencing acute adverse reactions to cannabis. The findings from this study have implications for people that use cannabis, have high negative affect, prescribing health care providers, and public health educators.

# Acknowledgments

I want to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Mazmanian, for his advice, guidance, and support throughout my educational endeavours. I would also like to show my appreciation to Dr. Michel Bédard and Dr. Kirsten Oinonen for their feedback throughout my MSc thesis. Thank you, Bruce Weaver, for providing your knowledge and assistance on this project. Also, I want to thank my laboratory members and friends, Erika Puiras and Casey Oliver, for their continuous support and encouragement. And lastly, I am grateful to my husband Cody. Thank you for your constant optimism, enthusiasm, and support throughout graduate school.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	vii
List of Abbreviations	viii
List of Appendices	X
Prevalence and Legislation of Cannabis Use	1
Cannabis Taxonomy	2
Cannabinoids, Phytocannabinoids, and Synthetic Cannabinoids	2
Endocannabinoids and the Endocannabinoid System	3
Acute Effects of THC and CBD	4
Medicinal and Non-medicinal Cannabis Use	4
Simultaneous Polysubstance Use	5
Positive and Negative Affect	8
Body Composition	11
Gaps in the Literature	12
Current Investigation	12
Main Hypotheses	14
Exploratory Hypotheses	15
Method	16
Participants	16
Measures	19
Demographic Information Questionnaire	19
The Cannabis Reason, Age, Frequency, Type, and Setting Questionnaire (CRAFTS-Q)	19

Simultaneous Polysubstance Use – Cannabis, Alcohol and Nicotine Questionnaire (SPU-CAN)	20
Adverse Reactions Scale (ARS; Lafrance et al., 2020)	21
Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988)	22
Social Desirability Scale – Personality Research Form (PRF-D; Jackson, 1987)	23
Infrequency Scale – Personality research Form (PRF-IN; Jackson, 1987)	23
Cannabis Use During COVID-19 Restrictions Information Questionnaire	23
Procedure	24
Data Analyses	25
Main Hypotheses	26
Hypothesis 1a	26
Hypothesis 1b	27
Hypothesis 1c	27
Hypothesis 1d	27
Hypothesis 2a	27
Hypothesis 2b	28
Hypothesis 3a	28
Hypothesis 3b	28
Exploratory Hypotheses	28
Hypothesis 1a	28
Hypothesis 1b	28
Results	28

Data Screening	28
Scale Characteristics and Internal Consistencies	29
Main Hypotheses	30
Simultaneous Polysubstance Use of Cannabis and Alcohol Comparisons	30
Hypothesis 1a	30
Simultaneous Polysubstance Use of Cannabis and Nicotine Comparisons	31
Hypothesis 1b	31
Simultaneous Polysubstance Use of Cannabis and Alcohol Associations	32
Hypothesis 1c	32
Simultaneous Polysubstance Use of Cannabis Nicotine Associations	35
Hypothesis 1d	35
Trait Positive Affect Associations	36
Hypothesis 2a	36
Trait Negative Affect Associations	37
Hypothesis 2b	37
Trait Positive Affect Predictions	38
Hypothesis 3a	38
Trait Negative Affect Predictions	41
Hypothesis 3b	41
Exploratory Hypotheses	44
Body Weight Associations	44

Hypothesis 1a	44
Body Mass Index Associations	45
Hypothesis 1b	45
Discussion	46
Simultaneous Polysubstance Use and Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis	46
Cannabis and Alcohol Comparisons and Associations	46
Cannabis and Nicotine Comparisons and Associations	48
Trait Affect and Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis	49
Trait Positive Affect Associations and Predictions	49
Trait Negative Affect Associations and Predictions	50
Exploratory Hypotheses	51
Body Weight and Body Mass Index and Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis	51
Limitations	52
Implications	53
References	54

# List of Tables

Table 1	Demographic Characteristics of Participants	17
Table 2	Scale Range, Means, Standard Deviations and Internal Consistencies	29
Table 3	Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Total Acute Adverse Reactions	33
Table 4	Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions	34
Table 5	Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions	34
Table 6	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Positive Affect Predicting Total Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis	39
Table 7	Pearson Correlation Coefficients Between Independent Variables and Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis in Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analyses	39
Table 8	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Positive Affect Predicting Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis	40
Table 9	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Positive Affect Predicting Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis.	41
Table 10	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Negative Affect Predicting Total Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis	42
Table 11	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Negative Affect Predicting Average Frequency Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis	43
Table 12	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Negative Affect Predicting Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis	44

#### List of Abbreviations

ARS Adverse Reactions Scale

BAL Blood Alcohol Level

BFP Body Fat Percentage

BIA Bio-electrical Impedance Analysis

BMI Body Mass Index

CB<sub>1</sub> OR CBR<sub>1</sub> Cannabinoid Receptor 1

CB<sub>1</sub> OR CBR<sub>2</sub> Cannabinoid Receptor 2

CBD Cannabidiol

CRAFTS-Q Cannabis Reason, Age, Frequency, Type, and Setting Questionnaire

DASS-21 Depression Anxiety Stress Scales–21

DEXA Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry

ECS Endocannabinoid System

FFM Fat Free Mass

NA Negative Affect

PA Positive Affect

PANAS Positive and Negative Affect Schedule

PRF-D Desirability Scale – Personality Research Form

PRF-IN Infrequency Scale – Personality Research Form

Q-Q Quantile-Quantile

SAM Simultaneous Alcohol and Marijuana

SAT Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue

SPU Simultaneous Polysubstance Use

SPU-CAN Simultaneous Polysubstance Use – Cannabis, Alcohol and Nicotine

Questionnaire

THC Tetrahydrocannabinol

VAT Visceral Adipose Tissue

# List of Appendices

Appendix A	Demographic Information Questionnaire	69
Appendix B	The Cannabis Reason, Age, Frequency, Type, and Setting Questionnaire (CRAFTS-Q)	72
Appendix C	Simultaneous Polysubstance Use – Cannabis, Alcohol and Nicotine Questionnaire (SPU-CAN)	77
Appendix D	Adverse Reactions Scale (ARS)	79
Appendix E	Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS)	81
Appendix F	Desirability Scale – Personality Research Form (PRF-D)	84
Appendix G	Infrequency Scale – Personality Research Form (PRF-I)	85
Appendix H	Cannabis Use During COVID-19 Restrictions Information Questionnaire	86
Appendix I	Email to Lakehead University Professors and Students	88
Appendix J	Poster for Participant Recruitment	90
Appendix K	Information Letter [General Public]	91
Appendix L	Information Letter [Lakehead University Students]	94
Appendix M	Debriefing Form [General Public]	97
Appendix N	Debriefing Form [Lakehead University Students]	99

Simultaneous Polysubstance Use, Trait Affect, Body Composition, and their Associations with

Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis

### Prevalence and Legislation of Cannabis Use

Worldwide, nearly 147 million people consume cannabis (World Health Organization [WHO], 2020). At the end of 2020, approximately 6.2 million Canadians aged 15 and older reported using cannabis in the past three months (Statistics Canada, 2021). Maclean's annual survey for 2019 on Canadian universities' cannabis use reported that 57.7% of Lakehead University students reported using cannabis at least once in the past year (Bronwell, 2019). Cannabis is prohibited in most countries worldwide; however, the legality of cannabis use differs extensively by country and region. In 2013, Uruguay was the first country to legalize nonmedicinal cannabis use (Cerdá, 2017). Subsequently, Canada was the next country that legalized non-medicinal cannabis use in all three domains: possession, consumption, and sale. Medicinal cannabis use in Canada has been legal since 2001, when a precedent was set, ruling that the prohibition of medicinal cannabis was violating an individual's right (i.e., see Regina v. Parker case) to make their own choices about the type of health care they receive (Cox, 2018). The Canadian parliament passed the Cannabis Act (i.e., Bill C-45) on June 19th, 2018 (Cannabis Act, 2018; Crépault, 2018) that legalized selling, purchasing, consuming, and growing cannabis for non-medicinal purposes. On October 17<sup>th</sup>, 2018, Canadians who were a minimum of 18 years of age could legally buy, consume, and grow cannabis for non-medicinal purposes (Crépault, 2018). The legal minimum age varies across provinces (e.g., British Columbia 19+, Ontario 19+, Quebec 18+). Additionally, Canadian adults can possess a maximum of 30 grams of dried cannabis or equivalent if cannabis form is non-dried (e.g., one gram of dried cannabis is equal to 70 grams of liquid product) and grow a maximum of four cannabis plants for noncommercial/profit for each household (Department of Justice Canada, 2020). However, edibles and concentrates were not legal for sale until the following year, October 17<sup>th</sup>, 2019 (Department of Justice Canada, 2020).

# **Cannabis Taxonomy**

Cannabis is the generic name for drugs that come from plants belonging to the species, *Cannabis sativa* L. (e.g., marijuana, weed), which falls under the genus *Cannabis* (McParland, 2018; Small & Cronquist, 1976). Cannabis plants can be occasionally monoicous (i.e., hermaphroditic), but are mainly dioicous (i.e., male and female) (Thomas & Elsohly, 2016). However, it is the female cannabis plants that are typically harvested for their flowering tops (i.e., apical/terminal bud) which contain more cannabinoids than their male counterparts (Thomas & Elsohly, 2016). Cannabis is comprised of over 400 known chemical compounds such as terpenes, flavonoids, alkaloids, and cannabinoids (Fisar, 2009).

# Cannabinoids, Phytocannabinoids, and Synthetic Cannabinoids

Cannabinoids are single molecules and are the terpenophenolic (i.e., part terpene, part phenol) components of *Cannabis sativa* L. (Fisar, 2009; Gertsch et al., 2010). These molecules are classified into three categories: phytocannabinoids, endocannabinoids, and synthetic cannabinoids (Fisar, 2009). Phytocannabinoids are naturally occurring cannabinoids found in *Cannabis sativa* L. plants (Gertsch et al., 2010); endocannabinoids are endogenous cannabinoids (i.e., cannabinoids originating from an organism); and synthetic cannabinoids are synthesized cannabinoids (Fisar, 2009). There are more than 100 classified phytocannabinoids (Andre et al., 2016; Elsohly et al., 2016), but the two most studied and abundant cannabinoids are tetrahydrocannabinoid (THC) and cannabidiol (CBD) (Elsohly et al., 2016; Thomas & Elsohly, 2016). THC is a partial agonist (Huestis et al., 2001), whereas CBD is an antagonist (i.e.,

negative allosteric modulators; decreases agonist affinity) at cannabinoid receptor 1 (CB<sub>1</sub> or CBR<sub>1</sub>) and 2 (CB<sub>2</sub> or CBR<sub>2</sub>) (Crippa et al., 2012; Laprairie et al., 2015). These cannabinoids and cannabinoid receptors are a part of the endocannabinoid system (ECS).

# Endocannabinoids and the Endocannabinoid System

The ECS is found in all vertebrates and consists of endocannabinoids (i.e., endogenous cannabinoids) (Khan et al., 2016), cannabinoid receptors, and deactivating enzymes that bind and alter endocannabinoids (Jacobson et al., 2019; Lu & Mackie, 2016; Silver, 2019). Endocannabinoids are endogenous lipids that bind to cannabinoid receptors (Kayser et al., 2020; Lu & Mackie, 2016). The two most researched cannabinoid receptors in the ECS are the CB<sub>1</sub> (or CBR<sub>1</sub>), which are primarily located in peripheral and central neurons (Freeman et al., 2019; Katona & Freund, 2012; Pertwee, 2008), and the CB<sub>2</sub> (or CBR<sub>2</sub>) (Matsuda et al., 1990; Munro et al., 1993; Serrano & Parsons, 2011; Silver, 2019), which are mainly found in immune cells (Pertwee, 2008). The primary role of the ECS is to regulate brain function homeostasis (Woods, 2007) and seems to be involved with regulating factors such as sleep (Pava et al., 2016) and affect (Lutz et al., 2015). Long-term cannabis use is associated with specific chronic effects (Freeman et al., 2019), such as cognitive impairments (Hall et al., 2014), psychotic symptoms (e.g., delusions) and disorders (Hall et al., 2014), and suicidal ideation (Borges et al., 2016). Furthermore, brain structural reductions in grey matter (Battistella et al., 2014), the prefrontal cortex, the hippocampus, and the cerebellum have also been linked with long-term cannabis use (Hall et al., 2014). In addition to chronic effects, cannabis use is also correlated with, and causes, various acute (i.e., short-term) reactions (Martin-Santos et al., 2012).

#### **Acute Effects of THC and CBD**

An acute effect develops shortly after initial exposure of each use and is short in duration (WHO, 2016). Cannabis can invoke both positive and negative acute effects (Martin-Santos et al., 2012; WHO, 2016). Various acute effects include anxiety and psychotic symptoms, working memory impairments, increased heart rate (WHO, 2016), and psychomotor function impairments (Broyd et al., 2016). Some factors reported to influence these short-term effects are mode of administration (e.g., inhalation, ingestion), previous cannabis use experience, environment, attitude, and dose (WHO, 2016). For instance, some studies have found that THC at lower doses may decrease anxiety, whereas higher doses may increase anxiety (Freeman et al., 2019; Hunault et al., 2009). Furthermore, there is interindividual variation in the acute effects of THC, meaning that different people will have different reactions to the same dosage of THC (Martin-Santos et al., 2012). In a systematic review by Freeman et al. (2019), limited studies were found on the acute effects of CBD. Although limited, CBD's acute effects reported in the literature include antipsychotic, anxiolytic, and sedative effects, but do not include effects on cognitive functioning, motor performance, or pulse rate (Batalla et al., 2014; Martin-Santos et al., 2012).

# Medicinal and Non-medicinal Cannabis Use

Medicinal cannabis use (also referred to as therapeutic cannabis use) refers to the use of cannabis in order to lessen symptoms or treat disease (Whiting et al., 2015). Medicinal cannabis use can be further divided into prescribed (i.e., with medical documentation; licensed) or self-prescribed medicinal use (i.e., without medical documentation; un-licensed) (Han et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2019). Non-medicinal cannabis use (also known as recreational cannabis use) refers to the use of cannabis for purposes other than lessening symptoms or treating disease (e.g., enjoyment).

Medicinal cannabis is commonly prescribed and self-prescribed for the following disorders/dysfunctions: anxiety, appetite, chronic pain, depression, epilepsy, nausea, sleep (e.g., insomnia), and Tourette syndrome (Whiting et al., 2015). A systematic review and meta-analysis by Koppel et al. (2014) examined the efficacy of medicinal cannabis by assessing the adverse effects that patients experience from cannabinoid use. Their meta-analysis found that 6.9% of patients stopped taking the medicinal cannabinoids due to the negative effects such as suicidal ideation, mood changes, and dizziness compared to 2.2% in the placebo group who discontinued due to reported adverse effects (Koppel et al., 2014).

In addition, Lin et al. (2016) compared medicinal and recreational adult cannabis users in various domains. They found no differences in areas such as education and prevalence of cannabis use disorder. However, the researchers discovered that medicinal users engaged in less non-cannabis drug use than recreational users (Lin et al., 2016). They suggested that polysubstance usage may occur more frequently in recreational users than medicinal users (Lin et al., 2016).

# Simultaneous Polysubstance Use

Polysubstance co-use, or concurrent polysubstance use, refers to using more than one substance, but on separate occasions within a specified timeframe (e.g., last 30 days) (Davis et al., 2019). However, for people that use substances, there is a tendency to administer multiple substances simultaneously (i.e., consuming more than one drug in one session), which is usually referred to as simultaneous polysubstance use (SPU) (Barrett et al., 2006; Davis et al., 2019). One matter that may confound the comprehension of acute adverse reactions to cannabis is that individuals who consume cannabis also engage in SPU (Barrett, 2006). That is, individuals consume at least one other substance at the same time as cannabis. Among those that use

cannabis, alcohol is the most common substance consumed simultaneously with cannabis (Brière et al., 2011; Pape et al., 2009), with one study showing that users reported using alcohol on 82% of the occasions where cannabis was used (Davis et al., 2019; Pape et al., 2009)

There are various reported reasons in the literature for why people partake in SPU (e.g., the effects of other drugs or peer influences) (Olthuis et al., 2013). Researchers have suggested that people may also be inclined to engage in SPU to experience expected pharmacodynamic effects when consuming certain substances simultaneously (i.e., increasing wanted effects or decreasing unwanted effects from a drug by consuming another drug at the same time) (Leri et al., 2003; Olthuis et al., 2013). However, many studies show the opposite result – combining substances simultaneously often decreases the positive acute effects experienced and increases the likelihood of experiencing the negative acute effects of a drug (e.g., Fernández-Calderón et al., 2020; Lipperman-Kreda et al., 2017; Manwell et al., 2019). For instance, in a study conducted on rats, three behavioural tests were performed (i.e., Emergence test, Elevated Plusmaze test, and Social Interaction test) to evaluate their anxiety and socially-related behaviour when THC was injected with nicotine (Manwell et al., 2019). The researchers concluded that the anxiolytic effects of THC, which are typically desired, decreased (e.g., rats spent less time in open spaces), and the anxiogenic effects of THC, which are generally undesired, increased (e.g., rats spent *more* time in the "hide box") (Crummy et al., 2020; Manwell et al., 2019). In relation to simultaneous alcohol and marijuana (SAM) use, Lee et al. (2017) found that university students who participated in SAM use reported more substantial acute effects for symptoms such as clumsiness and difficulty concentrating than young adults who consumed either alcohol or marijuana only. The young adults who engaged in SAM may have been more likely to experience acute adverse reactions due to the interactions between the ingested substances

(Fernández-Calderón et al., 2020; Iudici et al., 2015). These interactions that occur due to SPU can result in antagonistic effects (i.e., decrease the efficacy of one or more drugs), synergistic effects (i.e., increase the effects of one or more drugs), or additive/noninteraction effects (i.e., the combined effects of all drugs used; Roell et al., 2017) (Alsherbiny & Li, 2018). Synergistic or additive effects in particular have been found to be the most strongly associated with acute adverse reactions (e.g., Chihuri et al., 2017; Meier & Hatsukami, 2016; Pape et al., 2009). Regarding the simultaneous use of THC and ethanol, the evidence varies on whether this substance combination produces synergistic or additive effects, however findings typically lean to synergistic, especially at higher doses (see Ballard & de Wit, 2011 for a brief summary). However, a few studies have shown neither synergistic nor additive effects when simultaneously using THC and ethanol products, which previous researchers have suggested is either due to THC lessening the acute effects from ethanol or decreasing the desire to consume more alcohol (e.g., Ballard & de Wit, 2011). Also, Cummings et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional study that surveyed young adult college students about their SAM use patterns. Although cannabis acute adverse reactions were not measured, they found that those that consumed marijuana and alcohol simultaneously were more likely to report academic problems compared to students who consumed these substances on separate occasions (Cummings et al., 2020). There is minimal research on the simultaneous use of cannabis with other drugs and how that is associated with acute adverse reactions to cannabis. To the best of our knowledge, studies have not yet evaluated the association between SPU cannabis users, particularly legal substances outside of alcohol, and the variation, frequency, and distress rating of acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

A study found that young adults with polysubstance use disorders were more likely to have certain mental health disorders than those that had an alcohol or cannabis use disorder

(Salom et al., 2016). In addition to the positive correlation between SPU and various mental health disorders (Salom et al., 2016), several mental health disorders have also been discovered to be correlated with trait affect (Saxon et al., 2017). For example, studies have found that mental health disorders such as anxiety and depression have been positively associated with negative trait affect, and positive trait affect has been associated negatively with depression (Saxon et al., 2017). This relationship may exist because mental health conditions, such as major depressive disorder, can affect one's mood or *affect* or both (Centre for Addiction and Mental Health [CAMH], n.d.). Thus, these previous relationships highlight the need to investigate trait affect and its relationship with acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

# **Positive and Negative Affect**

Watson et al. (1988) defined affect as either a state (i.e., how an individual feels at any given time) or trait (i.e., how an individual feels on average, or in general) and is commonly categorized into positive affect (PA) and negative affect (NA). Trait PA is defined as the tendency to respond positively to the environment (e.g., general tendency to feel excitement), and inversely, trait NA is the tendency to respond negatively to the environment (e.g., general tendency to feel irritable) (Clark et al., 1989; Naragon-Gainey et al., 2018; Watson et al., 1988). Watson et al. (1988) show that PA and NA are statistically independent of each other (i.e., orthogonal factors) (Watson, 1988). To illustrate, an individual can have a high PA and NA, high PA with low NA, low PA and NA, or low PA with high NA.

Although affect has shown intraindividual variation, there is also evidence that affect is relatively stable over a person's lifetime (Naragon-Gainey et al., 2018). Naragon-Gainey et al.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Previous authors have raised concerns about terminology inconsistency in the literature between affect, emotion, and mood (Pressman & Cohen, 2005).

(2018) suggest that intraindividual examination may identify contributors for changes in a specific person's affect at any given moment. Comparably, the interindividual assessment may identify individuals who are more susceptible to having particular types of affective experiences over other individuals (e.g., sadness) (Naragon-Gainey et al., 2018). Evolutionary-based explanations have been used to explain between-person variability in affect (Naragon-Gainey et al., 2018; Watson et al., 1999). Specifically, affect has been described as adaptive in that having high negative affectivity increases the tendency to avoid harmful situations, whereas positive affectivity increases the tendency to seek out rewarding experiences (Naragon-Gainey et al., 2018; Watson et al., 1999). PA is related to various mental health outcomes, such as higher subjective and psychological well-being levels and a lower frequency of suicide ideation (Teismann et al., 2019). Negative affect is also associated with cognitive impairments, such as decreased memory recall of stressful experiences (Ma-Kellams et al., 2016), and both positive and negative affect have been linked to substance use (Serafini et al., 2016; Wills et al., 1999). For example, in outpatient treatment substance users, Serafini et al. (2016) found that PA scores were positively associated with the number of days abstinent from their abused substance. In a longitudinal study following adolescent substance use (i.e., tobacco, alcohol, and marijuana), NA was positively associated with substance use, and PA was found to be negatively associated with substance use (Wills et al., 1999). Research has not yet investigated the association between general trait affect and the experience of the variation, frequency, and distress rating of acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

In addition to substance use abstinence, affect has been linked with mood disorders such as depression and anxiety (Riskind et al., 2013). On a chemical level, the individual levels of certain neurotransmitters may partly explain this relationship between affect and mood disorders.

For instance, a study conducted by William and colleagues (2006) on a small sample of males (n = 23) revealed that serotonin (5-HT) blood levels were positively associated with PA (however, no relationship was found between 5-HT and NA in this same study; William et al., 2006). Yet, the authors noted earlier studies that showed that negative affect was negatively associated with 5-HT (Williams et al., 2006). Some mental health disorders, such as clinical depression, were found to be negatively associated with 5-HT levels, which has been explained, and termed by researchers as the serotonin hypothesis (i.e., lower 5-HT activity hypothesized as a partial cause of depression) (Cowen & Browning, 2015), In addition to 5-HT, the hormone cortisol has also been found to be associated with trait affect. Although previous authors have noted the mixed findings (Miller et al., 2016), a few studies have shown that trait PA was negatively associated with cortisol levels (e.g., Hoyt et al., 2015), and trait NA was positively associated with cortisol levels (e.g., Piazza et al., 2013). Similar to the 5-HT literature, cortisol has also been linked to mental health disorders, such as anxiety. In a longitudinal study, Adam et al. (2014) examined the relationship between salivary cortisol and anxiety disorders annually over a six-year period and discovered that cortisol was positively associated with anxiety disorder onset; this association was particularly strong in predicting the onset of social anxiety disorders. These chemical (i.e., 5-HT and cortisol) relationships discussed may offer a biological explanation as to why affect is associated with some mental health disorders.

Not only has NA been found to be associated with psychological and chemical components, but previous studies have also shown that NA is associated with human physiological components such as body weight and body mass index (Oinonen & Mazmanian, 2001; Pasco et al., 2013). For example, Oinonen and Mazmanian (2001) found that young adult women with higher BMIs were more likely to have lower depression, anxiety, and negative

affect scores. These earlier findings emphasize the need to explore the relationship between physiological components, such as body composition, and acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

### **Body Composition**

Yu et al. (2013) defined absolute body weight as the composition of adipose (i.e., fat) mass and adipose-free mass (i.e., fat-free mass; FFM). Adipose tissue is comprised of visceral adipose tissue (VAT) and subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) (Shuster et al., 2012). The purpose of adipose tissue is to store energy and secrete hormones into the blood through endocrinological signalling (Shuster et al., 2012). Body mass index (BMI) is an anthropometric measure (e.g., body mass, body fat) (Duren et al., 2008; Martin-Calvo et al., 2016) and is calculated by dividing weight by height squared (e.g., kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (Wells & Fewtrell, 2006). A meta-analysis conducted in 2016 reported that BMI was positively correlated ( $r^2$  for a 95% CI ranged from 0.32 to 0.91) with body fat percentage (BFP) (Martin-Calvo et al., 2016). However, BMI does not differentiate FFM (i.e., muscle, bone, organs, and extracellular fluid) from adipose tissue (i.e., fat tissue) (Yu et al., 2013). Despite this limitation, BMI is the most popular substitute for predicting BFP indirectly (Ranasinghe et al., 2013). While BMI is commonly used as a predictor of body fat percentage (i.e., higher BMI predicting higher BFP), ideally, other measures that are more accurate should be used in conjunction with BMI to increase validity and reliability when measuring BFP, such as a skinfold calliper measurement, bio-electrical impedance analysis (BIA), and dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) (Harvard, 2020).

A human body's tolerance to alcohol (i.e., ethanol) is determined by numerous factors, including body weight and BFP. Body weight affects alcohol tolerance in that the more one weighs, the higher tolerance to alcohol effects one may experience. Inversely, BFP affects alcohol tolerance in that higher BFP is associated with lower tolerance to alcohol's acute effects

(Cedarbaum, 2012). This relationship occurs because alcohol is not fat-soluble, which results in higher blood alcohol levels (BAL) as body fat percentage increases (Cederbaum, 2012). Due to these mechanisms, women are at an increased risk for alcohol toxicity as women tend to be lower in body weight and have higher body fat percentages than men (Cederbaum, 2012). Contrarily, endocannabinoids like THC and CBD are highly lipid-soluble (Basu et al., 2014); therefore, cannabinoids are soluble in fat. Nevertheless, there is no research to our knowledge investigating the relationship between acute adverse effects to cannabis and body weight and BMI.

### **Gaps in the Literature**

Previous researchers investigating predictors of acute adverse reactions to cannabis, such as Lafrance et al. (2020), suggested that because their predictors only accounted for a maximum of 25% of the variance, there must be other potential predictors yet to be identified. To our knowledge, there have been no studies that have investigated the associations between SPU, trait affect, and body composition with the number, frequency, and distress rating of acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

### **Current Investigation**

The current study will add to this existing literature by assessing the relationship between three facets of acute adverse reactions to cannabis and each of the following: simultaneous polysubstance use and trait affect. Guided by the literature, the following main research questions will be investigated:

- 1. Simultaneous Polysubstance Use Comparisons and Associations
  - a. Are there significant differences in the acute adverse reactions to cannabis (i.e., measured by: i. the total number of different acute adverse reactions experienced,

- ii. the average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced, and iii. the average distress ratings from acute adverse reactions) between participants that have engaged in the *simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and alcohol* at least once in their lifetime, and participants that have never engaged in simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and alcohol?
- b. Are there significant differences in the acute adverse reactions to cannabis between participants who have engaged in *simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and nicotine* at least once in their lifetime, and participants who have never engaged in simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and nicotine?
- c. Is *simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and alcohol frequency* (i.e., the percentage of cannabis uses in which alcohol was also used) associated with acute adverse reactions to cannabis?
- d. Is *cannabis and nicotine simultaneous polysubstance use frequency* (i.e., the percentage of cannabis uses in which nicotine was also used) associated with acute adverse reactions to cannabis?

#### 2. Trait Affect Associations

- a. Is *trait positive affect* associated with acute adverse reactions to cannabis?
- b. Is trait negative affect associated with acute adverse reactions to cannabis?

#### 3. Trait Affect Predictions

a. Taking into account the covariates age, gender, and cannabis consumption frequency, how much variation can be explained in the acute adverse reactions to cannabis by adding *trait positive affect*. b. Taking into account the covariates age, gender, and cannabis consumption frequency, how much variation can be explained in the acute adverse reactions to cannabis by adding *trait negative affect*.

Guided by the literature, the following exploratory research questions will be investigated:

- 1. Body Composition Associations
  - a. Is *body weight* associated with acute adverse reactions to cannabis?
  - b. Is *body mass index* associated with acute adverse reactions to cannabis?

### **Main Hypotheses**

The following hypotheses were generated from the research questions listed above:

- 1. Simultaneous Polysubstance Use Comparisons and Associations
  - a. The group of participants who have engaged in *simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and alcohol* at least once in their lifetime will have significantly higher mean acute adverse reaction scores to cannabis (i.e., measured by: i. the total number of different acute adverse reactions experienced, ii. the average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced, and iii. the average distress ratings from acute adverse reactions) than the group of participants who have never engaged in simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and alcohol in acute adverse reactions to cannabis.
  - b. The group of participants who have engaged in *simultaneous polysubstance use of* cannabis and nicotine at least once in their lifetime will have significantly higher mean than the group of participants who have never engaged in simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and nicotine in acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

- c. Simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and alcohol frequency will have a positive relationship with acute adverse reactions to cannabis.
- d. *Simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and nicotine frequency* will have a positive relationship with acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

#### 2. Trait Affect Associations

- a. *Trait positive affect* will have a negative relationship with acute adverse reactions to cannabis.
- b. *Trait negative affect* will have a positive relationship with acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

#### 3. Trait Affect Predictions

- a. Taking into account the covariates age, gender, and cannabis consumption frequency, the addition of *trait positive affect* will explain a statistically greater amount of the variation in predicting acute adverse reactions to cannabis.
- a. Taking into account the covariates age, gender, and cannabis consumption frequency, the addition of *trait negative affect* will explain a statistically greater amount of the variation in predicting acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

## **Exploratory Hypotheses**

The hypotheses below were created from the exploratory research questions listed above:

#### 1. Body Composition Associations

a. *Body weight* will have a negative relationship with acute adverse reactions to cannabis (i.e., measured by: 1. the total number of different acute adverse reactions experienced, 2. the average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced, and 3. the average distress ratings from acute adverse reactions).

b. *Body mass index* will have a negative relationship with acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

#### Method

# **Participants**

Altogether, 720 participants completed the test battery. However, 156 were removed from the database due to not using cannabis at least once in their lifetime. An additional 94 were removed due to non-purposeful responding (i.e., receiving an Infrequency score higher than 3). Another 13 participants were omitted because they were not currently living in Canada at the time of the study. Lastly, one more participant was removed from the database as they did not provide their age. In Canada, and dependent on the province or territory, the lowest age possible that someone can legally purchase and consume cannabis is 18. After all removal stages, 456 participants remained in the database, including 309 participants from the general public and 147 from the university sample. Participants from the general public were primarily employed fulltime (61.9%), and many had either completed an undergraduate degree (22.3%) or a college degree (21.4%). The university sample was employed mainly part-time (61.2%), with "some undergraduate" being the highest level of education completed (70.1%). Additionally, the final combined sample was 64.1% female and was predominately White (82.2%). Table 1 presents the combined demographic characteristics consisting of the general public and university participants.

Table 1

Demographic Characteristics of Participants (N = 456)

Demographic Characteristics of Participants (N = 456)  Characteristic	M(SD)	Frequency	%
Age	29.26 (10.07)	Trequency	70
Sex	,		
Female		291	(64.1%)
Male		159	(35.1%)
I do not identify with the options listed		1	(0.2%)
Prefer not to say		2	(0.4%)
Gender			
Female		286	(62.7%)
Male		160	(35.2%)
Non-binary		7	(1.5%)
Transgender		0	(0%)
I do not identify with the options listed		1	(0.2%)
Prefer not to say		1	(0.2%)
Race/Ethnicity			
Asian		25	(5.5%)
Black		7	(1.5%)
Caucasian (White)		374	(82.2%)
Hispanic/Latino/Latina/Latinx		3	(0.7%)
Indigenous (First Nations, Métis, or Inuit)		34	(7.5%)
Middle Eastern		2	(0.4%)
I do not identify with the options listed		9	(2.0%)
Prefer not to say		1	(0.2%)
Sampling			
General public		309	(67.8%)
University students		147	(32.2%)
Nationality (i.e., country citizenship)			
Canadian		419	(91.9%)
Canadian with multiple citizenship		27	(5.9%)
None of the above		10	(2.2%)
Country of Residence (Majority of Life)			
Canada		442	(96.9%)
Not in Canada		14	(3.1%)
Province or Territory Residence $(n = 309)^a$			
Alberta			(35.5%)
British Columbia		15	(4.8%)
Manitoba		80	(25.8%)
New Brunswick		2	(0.6%)
Newfoundland and Labrador		2	(0.6%)
Northwest Territories		0	(0%)
Nova Scotia		4	(1.3%)
Ontario		91	(29.4%)
Prince Edward Island		0	(0%)
Quebec		4	(1.3%)
Saskatchewan		1	(0.3%)
Yukon		0	(0%)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Item surveyed from general public sample only.

The mean age of cannabis use onset was 17.66 years old (SD = 5.01), ranging from 10 to 49 years of age. Most participants reported consuming a THC dominant cannabis product (i.e., a higher amount of THC than CBD) most frequently during their cannabis use sessions (63.4%), 5.7% of participants reported consuming a CBD dominant cannabis product (i.e., a higher amount of CBD than THC) most of the time, 15.4% of participants reported consuming a balanced cannabis product (i.e., containing a similar amount of both THC and CBD, "Balanced 1:1") most of the time, and 15.6% of participants reported that they were unsure of the cannabinoid profile they most frequently consumed in their cannabis products. The average frequency of cannabis consumption in the last week (i.e., 7 days) was 2.96 days (SD = 2.97), in the last month (i.e., 4 weeks) was 12.16 days (SD = 12.11), and in the last 3 months (i.e., 12 weeks) was 35.19 days (SD = 35.73). The most common method for cannabis consumption was inhalation (e.g., smoking) (74.6%, n = 340), followed by ingestion (e.g., edibles) (25.2%, n = 115), then absorption (e.g., topicals) (0.2%, n = 1).

The primary purpose of cannabis consumption most of the time for participants was mainly or always for non-medicinal or recreational purposes (58.7%, n = 267), followed by equal consumption for recreational and medicinal purposes (29.5%, n = 134). Mainly or always for medicinal or therapeutic reasons was the least endorsed reason for cannabis consumption (11.9%, n = 54). For participants that reported consuming cannabis for medicinal or therapeutic reasons, the dominant three reasons were for anxiety (89.9%, n = 169), followed by stress (81.9%, n = 154), then insomnia (i.e., a sleep disorder characterized by sleeplessness) (74.5%, n = 140). Most participants reported only being around one other person most of the time while consuming cannabis (48.6%, n = 221), and most participants consumed cannabis inside their own home/apartment (61.8%, n = 282).

#### **Measures**

# Demographic Information Questionnaire

Data regarding the participants' age, sex, gender, weight, height, ethnicity, marital status, religion, and level of education attained were collected. BMI was calculated using the weight and height collected from participants (see Appendix A).

# The Cannabis Reason, Age, Frequency, Type, and Setting Ouestionnaire (CRAFTS-O)

The CRAFTS-Q is a newly created 20-item self-report tool, developed by the authors, to collect data regarding the reason for cannabis use (i.e., medicinal or recreational), age of first use for cannabis use, frequency, mode of consumption (e.g., edibles), cannabinoid-type (e.g., THC dominant), the status of cannabis use (i.e., regular and/or current cannabis user), and setting (i.e., the environment of initial cannabis consumption and effects experienced) (see Appendix B). Initial draft questions were administered to four respondents from various fields of study (i.e., psychology, history, and engineering) where respondents verbalized their mental processes when providing their answers. Items were edited based on feedback and were re-administered to two of the original respondents. With the finalized questions, participants were first presented with the following instructions: "Please read the definition for *Cannabis* provided below. Additionally, some examples of common Cannabis terminology and products have been provided along with the definition". The definition of Cannabis provided to participants was as follows: "Cannabis (e.g., marijuana, weed, pot, hash/hashish, THC, CBD) refers to the generic name for drugs or compounds that come from plants belonging to the genus Cannabis". Following the definition, participants showed their comprehension of the meaning using a 3-point scale, from 0 "No, I have not read the definition for Cannabis stated above" to 2 "Yes, and I understand the definition for Cannabis stated above". Participants that scored a zero or one on this item were excluded

from the final analysis of this questionnaire. The following question participants received concerned their lifetime cannabis use. Participants that endorsed "No" (i.e., never used cannabis in their lifetime) did not answer any more questions remaining in the CRAFTS-Q. Participants that endorsed "Yes" (i.e., have used cannabis in their lifetime) were asked to complete the remaining 18 items in the questionnaire. The remaining questions had either a binary "No" or "Yes", open response, or a 3 to 9-point scale response format. Age of first use was assessed with one item, two items each to evaluate the status of cannabis user, cannabinoid-type, and mode of consumption; frequency of cannabis consumption was assessed with three items, and four items were used to determine reason and setting (i.e., environment) of cannabis use.

Simultaneous Polysubstance Use – Cannabis, Alcohol and Nicotine Questionnaire (SPU-CAN)

The SPU-CAN is a newly created 7-item self-report tool, developed by the authors, that evaluates lifetime occurrence and frequency of cannabis SPU with alcohol or nicotine (see Appendix C). Similar to the CRAFTS-Q, initial draft questions were administered to four respondents from various fields of study (i.e., psychology, history, and engineering). The respondents were asked to verbalize their mental processes when providing their answers. Items were edited based on feedback and re-administered to two original respondents to confirm the finalized items. With the finalized items, participants were presented with the following instructions: "Please read the definition for *Cannabis* provided below. Additionally, some examples of common *Cannabis* terminology and products have been provided along with the definition". The definition of Cannabis provided to participants was as follows: "*Cannabis* (e.g., marijuana, weed, pot, hash/hashish, THC, CBD) refers to the generic name for drugs or compounds that come from plants belonging to the genus *Cannabis*". The following question

participants received was related to their lifetime cannabis use. Participants that endorsed "No" (i.e., never used cannabis in their lifetime) did not answer any more questions remaining in the SPU-CAN. Participants that endorsed "Yes" (i.e., have used cannabis in their lifetime) were asked to complete the remaining 6 items in the questionnaire. The remaining questions either had a binary "No" or "Yes", or a numeric open-response format. The remaining six questions consisted of two separate lifetime-use questions, one for alcohol and the other for nicotine, that had a "No" (e.g., never consumed alcohol in their lifetime) or "Yes" response format. Two more questions involved asking about their SPU with cannabis, separately for alcohol and nicotine; again, with a binary "No" or "Yes" response format. Participants were asked two questions about the frequency of their SPU with cannabis, independently for alcohol and nicotine, using a numeric, open-response format by reporting their percentage of cannabis simultaneous polysubstance use from 1-100% (i.e., 100% indicating that they consume alcohol or nicotine every time they consume cannabis).

### Adverse Reactions Scale (ARS; Lafrance et al., 2020)

The ARS is a 26-item self-report tool that measures the total number of different acute adverse reactions to cannabis, the frequency of each adverse acute response to cannabis, and the distress associated with each acute adverse reaction to cannabis (see Appendix D). Participants are requested to indicate if they have experienced any of the 26 listed adverse reactions to acute cannabis intoxication (e.g., anxiety, paranoia, vomiting) with a binary "No" or "Yes" to measure the total number of different acute adverse reactions experienced. For each acute adverse reaction that participants respond with "Yes" to, they also receive two follow-up questions to measure the frequency and distress for each of their experienced acute adverse reactions. The frequency of the acute adverse reactions is measured by asking the participant to report the

percentage of times the acute adverse reaction was experienced out of all of the times that they have ever used cannabis (e.g., "Approximately what percentage of the time that you use cannabis do you experience anxiety?"). The perceived distress for every endorsed acute adverse reaction to cannabis is measured by having the participant rate their distress level on a 5-point Likert-type scale, from 0 "Not at all distressing" to 4 "Severely distressing" (e.g., On average, how distressing was experiencing anxiety while under the influence of cannabis?"). The authors have suggested that the acute adverse reactions of "body humming", "numbness" and "unsteadiness" could be removed from the scale as these reactions may not be perceived as negative to cannabis users. The number of acute adverse reactions for each participant was calculated by counting each adverse reaction endorsed; the average frequency of acute adverse reactions was calculated by averaging the participants' frequency rating for each acute adverse reaction the participant endorsed; and like frequency, average distress ratings for each participant were calculated by averaging the distress rating for every acute adverse reaction endorsed. Internal consistencies reported by Lafrance et al. (2020) were .90, .75, and .99 for prevalence, frequency, and distress, respectively. Kurtosis values were smaller than  $\pm -2.0$ , and each variable was normally distributed (Lafrance et al., 2020). No estimates of validity were provided for this scale.

# Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988)

The PANAS contains two 10-item affect scales, one scale measures NA and the other measuring PA (see Appendix E). Participants are requested to rate how they feel in general, on average, on 20 affect adjectives. Ten PA (e.g., Excited) and ten NA (e.g., Irritable) adjectives were rated on a 5-point Likert-type scale, from 1 "Very slightly or not at all" to 5 "Extremely" (Watson et al., 1988). Watson et al. (1988) reported the general time frame (i.e., lifetime perceived average of affect) for the PA scale to have a .88 internal consistency and the general

time frame for the NA scale to have a .87 internal consistency. The test-retest reliabilities for the general time frame, with 8-weeks between each test, were .68 and .71 for positive and negative affect, respectively (Watson et al., 1988).

### Social Desirability Scale – Personality Research Form (PRF-D; Jackson, 1987)

The PRF-D consists of sixteen items that measure socially desirable responding (see Appendix F). The scale has a "true" and "false" response format for all sixteen items (e.g., "If someone gave me too much change, I would tell him"). Jackson (1987) reported a high test-retest reliability (.81) and internal consistency (.83).

# Infrequency Scale – Personality research Form (PRF-IN; Jackson, 1987)

The PRF-IN consists of sixteen items that measure non-purposeful responding (see Appendix G). The scale has a "true" and "false" response format for all sixteen items (e.g., "Sometimes I feel thirsty or hungry"). Jackson (1987) reported a moderate test-retest reliability (.46). The author of this scale describes a score of four or more as indicative of non-purposeful or careless responding; thus, participants in this study who scored greater than three were removed from further analyses. Internal consistency is low for this scale due to the low endorsement rates. There is little or no variance because most respondents will either endorse a small number of the items or none at all.

## Cannabis Use During COVID-19 Restrictions Information Questionnaire

On March 11<sup>th</sup>, 2020, WHO declared a COVID-19 pandemic. Due to this unique time in cannabis research, data regarding the participants' frequency of cannabis use, first use of cannabis, and mental health during the COVID-19 restrictions was also collected (see Appendix H). Participants were presented the following instructions: "Please read the definitions for *Cannabis* and *COVID-19 restrictions* provided below. Additionally, some examples of common

Cannabis terminology and products have been provided along with the definition". Like the CRAFTS-Q and SPU-CAN questionnaire, the definition of Cannabis provided to participants was as follows: "Cannabis (e.g., marijuana, weed, pot, hash/hashish, THC, CBD) refers to the generic name for drugs or compounds that come from plants belonging to the genus Cannabis". The definition of COVID-19 restrictions was as follows: "Refers to a period of time of measures set in place (e.g., physical distancing, travel bans, closed borders, lockdowns, etc.) to restrict human contact because of the Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) disease which was upgraded to pandemic status on March 11th, 2020 by the World Health Organization (WHO)". This collected information is not related to our main research questions, however, we deemed it appropriate as we realize the timing of our data collection may have an affect on the results of this study, such as cannabis use frequency (e.g., increased stress and layoffs may increase cannabis use).

#### **Procedure**

This study was a cross-sectional design that required participants to complete an online self-report questionnaire. They were asked to complete the scales listed above. The university students were recruited from Lakehead University, and the general public were recruited across Canada. Online recruitment strategies occurred between November 2020 and February 2021. Recruitment strategies included emails sent to Lakehead University psychology courses (see Appendix I), poster advertisements (see Appendix J) on social media (i.e., Facebook, Instagram, and Reddit), online advertising websites (i.e., Kijiji), and on Sona Systems (i.e., a software to host research studies that the Psychology department at Lakehead University uses to advertise and recruit undergraduate psychology students). University students and the general public were invited to click a hyperlink that directed them to their relevant information letter and consent

form (see Appendix K and L) which provided information about the procedure of the study, that participation is voluntary, they have the right to withdraw from the study at any point, and that their responses are anonymous. After reading the required information for informed consent, participants were then asked to consent to the "The Cannabis Experiences Study" (i.e., The CAN-E Study). Following consent, participants responded to a questionnaire battery through a secured website service (i.e., SurveyMonkey) that included the self-report measures. After the participants completed the online questionnaire, they were provided with the appropriate debriefing letter (see Appendix M and N) that informed them of the purpose of the study, provided instructions on how to be compensated for their time (i.e., eGift card draw or one bonus mark towards an eligible Lakehead University course), and how to request a summary of the results. This study was approved by Lakehead University's Research Ethics Board (#1468303).

## Data Analyses

The data were first examined for non-purposeful responding, outliers, and to verify the assumptions for independent samples *t*-tests, Pearson product-moment correlations and hierarchical multiple regressions before conducting any statistical procedure for the hypotheses. For the independent samples *t*-test, outliers (i.e., assessed via boxplots), normally distributed residuals (i.e., analyzed by inspecting a Normal Q-Q plot), and homogeneity of variances (i.e., examined with Levene's test) were examined to determine if assumptions were violated. If homogeneity of variances was violated (i.e., a statistically significant Levene's test), the Welch's *t*-test would be conducted instead of the Student's *t*-test. The assumptions for the Pearson product-moment correlations that were examined were outliers, linearity between both variables (i.e., determined by examining scatterplots), and normality between both variables (i.e., Normal Q-Q plots). Finally, the assumptions analyzed for the hierarchical multiple regression analyses

were the following: outliers, linearity (i.e., scatterplots and partial regression scatterplots), independence of residuals (i.e., Durbin Watson statistic of approximately 2), normal distribution of residuals, homoscedasticity of residuals (i.e., linearity between studentized residuals and unstandardized predicted values), multicollinearity (i.e., tolerance values less than 0.1), leverage points (i.e., cases with leverage points greater than 0.2) (Huber, 1981), and influential points (i.e., Cook's Distance greater than 1). As response bias issues may be more prevalent due to stigmatized topics being examined in this study, such as substance use and body weight, socially desirable responding was controlled by conducting ANCOVAs for the independent samples *t*-tests, partial correlations for the Pearson product-moment correlations, and including social desirability as a covariate in the hierarchical multiple regressions.

Due to the number of statistical tests (i.e., 30), a multiple-test correction, specifically the Benjamini-Hochberg correction, with a false-discovery rate set to .10, was implemented to control Type I errors (Benjamini & Hochberg, 1995). For example, using the Benjamini-Hochberg correction in this study, a *p*-value of .034 would not be considered statistically significant as the equivalent Benjamini-Hochberg correction of this *p* value would approximately be .11. Therefore, a *p*-value greater than or equal to .034 is not statistically significant in these analyses.

## Main Hypotheses.

Hypothesis 1a. An independent samples *t*-test analysis was used to investigate the mean differences between participants that have engaged in simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and alcohol at least once in their lifetime, and participants that have never engaged in simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and alcohol on the three dependent variables for acute adverse reactions to cannabis (i.e., the total number of different adverse reactions

experienced, the average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced, and the average distress ratings from the acute adverse reactions experienced).

Hypothesis 1b. Comparable to hypothesis 1a, an independent samples t-test analysis was conducted to examine the mean differences between participants that have engaged in cannabis and nicotine simultaneous polysubstance use at least once in their lifetime, and participants that have never engaged in cannabis and nicotine simultaneous polysubstance use on the three dependent variables used to measure acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

Hypothesis 1c. A Pearson product-moment correlation analysis was conducted to examine the association between simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and alcohol frequency and the three dependent variables used to measure acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

*Hypothesis 1d.* Similar to hypothesis 1c, a Pearson product-moment correlation analysis was performed to investigate the association between simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and nicotine frequency and the three dependent variables used to measure acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

*Hypothesis 2a.* Another product-moment correlation analysis was performed to investigate the association between trait positive affect and the three dependent variables used to measure acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

*Hypothesis 2b.* Similar to hypotheses 1c through 2a, a product-moment correlation analysis was done to examine the association between trait negative affect and the three dependent variables used to measure acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

*Hypothesis 3a.* Hierarchical multiple regression analyses were completed to analyze if trait positive affect predicted the three dependent variables used to measure acute adverse reactions to cannabis. Block one consisted of the covariates age (i.e., continuous variable),

gender (i.e., nominal dichotomous variable), and frequency of cannabis consumption in the last 3 months (i.e., continuous variable). Block two included trait positive affect (i.e., continuous variable).

*Hypothesis 3b.* Similarly, another hierarchical multiple regression analyses were used to investigate if trait negative affect predicted the three dependent variables used to measure acute adverse reactions to cannabis. Block one consisted of the covariates age, gender, and frequency of cannabis consumption in the last 3 months. Block two included trait negative affect (i.e., continuous variable).

## **Exploratory Hypotheses.**

*Hypothesis 1a.* A product-moment correlation analysis was conducted to investigate the association between body weight and the three dependent variables used to measure acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

*Hypothesis 1b.* Another product-moment correlation analysis was performed to explore the relationship between BMI and the three dependent variables used to measure acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

#### **Results**

## **Data Screening**

Before conducting the analyses to test the hypotheses, infrequent (i.e., non-purposeful) responding was examined for all participants using participant's PRF-IN scores. Participants with PRF-IN scores greater than 3 were not included in the analyses of this study. Additionally, participants were omitted from the final analyses if they completed the study in less than 5 minutes (i.e., average completion time was 30 minutes and 13 seconds).

# **Scale Characteristics and Internal Consistencies**

Where applicable, the mean, range, standard deviation, and internal consistency were examined for each scale used in the analyses (see Table 2).

Scale Range, Means, Standard Deviations and Internal Consistencies

	N	M(SD)	Internal
Measure			Consistency
Scale (range possible)			
ARS <sup>a</sup>			
Number of Different Acute Adverse	453	7.13(4.45)	.79
Reactions (0-26)			
Average Frequency of Acute Adverse	456	8.28(9.13)	.85
Reactions (0-100%)			
Average Distress Associated with	456	1.21(0.86)	.79
Acute Adverse Reactions (0-4)			
SPU-CAN <sup>b</sup>			
Cannabis with Alcohol (0-100%)	456	20.22(27.77)	
Cannabis with Nicotine (0-100%)	456	21.05(36.91)	
PANAS <sup>c</sup>			
Positive Affect (10-50)	445	27.98(8.45)	.92
Negative Affect (10-50)	443	20.08(7.91)	.90
Body Composition			
Body Weight in Pounds	452	173.01(47.89)	
Body Mass Index	451	26.84(6.34)	
$PRF^{d}$		, ,	
PRF-D (0-16)	452	10.97(2.99)	.69
PRF-I (0-16)	456	0.32(0.61)	.19 <sup>e</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Adverse Reactions Scale

Table 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Simultaneous Polysubstance Use – Cannabis, Alcohol, Nicotine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Positive and Negative Affect Schedule

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Personality Research Form – Desirability and Infrequency

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> Low internal consistency from the low endorsement rates due to the nature of the scale (M close to 0,  $SD \le 1$ ).

## **Main Hypotheses**

Simultaneous Polysubstance Use of Cannabis and Alcohol Comparisons

## Hypothesis 1a.

*Total Acute Adverse Reactions.* Participants that have consumed alcohol simultaneously with cannabis use at least once (M = 7.44, SD = 4.24, n = 371) had significantly higher total adverse reaction mean scores than participants who have never consumed alcohol simultaneously with cannabis (M = 5.77, SD = 4.10, n = 74), t(443) = 1.67, p = .002. To explore the potential role of response styles, an ANCOVA was conducted as well using social desirability as a covariate. The findings remained significant, F(1, 438) = 10.88, p = .001.

Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions. Four outliers in the average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced subscale were detected via boxplot. However, upon further examination for each case, and the large sample size, the outliers were included in the analyses. Levene's test for equality of variance revealed that the assumption of homogeneity of variances was violated (p = .005). Consequently, a Welch t-test was conducted. The Welch t-test revealed that there was not a statistically significant difference in the mean average frequency of acute adverse reactions between participants that have consumed alcohol simultaneously with cannabis at least once (M = 7.87, SD = 8.87, n = 374) and participants who have never consumed alcohol simultaneously with cannabis (M = 10.39, SD = 11.31, n = 74), t(90.70) = 1.82, p = .072. Additionally, after controlling for socially desirable responses via an ANCOVA and decreasing Type I errors through the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure, the mean differences for the average frequency of acute adverse reactions remained nonsignificant, F(1,441) = 4.31, p = .039.

Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions. Levene's test for equality of variance revealed that the assumption of homogeneity of variances was violated (p = .005). A

Welch *t*-test was therefore conducted and revealed that there was not a statistically significant difference in the average mean distress rating of acute adverse reactions between participants that have consumed alcohol simultaneously with cannabis (M = 1.19, SD = 0.82, n = 367) and participants who have never consumed alcohol simultaneously with cannabis (M = 1.28, SD = 1.03, n = 67), t(81.99) = .70, p = .484. This finding also remained nonsignificant when controlling for social desirability, F(1,427) = .95, p = .331.

#### Simultaneous Polysubstance Use of Cannabis and Nicotine Comparisons

#### Hypothesis 1b.

Total Acute Adverse Reactions. The independent samples t-test revealed that there was not a statistically significant difference in the mean total of acute adverse reactions experienced between participants that have consumed nicotine simultaneously with cannabis (M = 7.7, SD = 4.3, n = 196) and participants who have never consumed nicotine simultaneously with cannabis (M = 7.34, SD = 4.6, n = 100), t(294) = -.66, p = .508. Similarly for the analyses completed for hypotheses 1a, socially desirable responding was also used as a covariate and the findings remained nonsignificant (p = 1.00).

Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions. Three outliers in the average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced subscale were detected via boxplot. However, upon further examination of each case, and the large sample size, the extreme outliers were included in the analyses. The independent samples t-test revealed that there was not a statistically significant difference in the mean average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced between participants that have consumed nicotine simultaneously with cannabis (M = 7.78, SD = 9.18, n = 196) and participants who have never consumed nicotine simultaneously with cannabis (M = 9.55, SD = 9.92, n = 101), t(295) = 1.53, p = .127. However, when controlling for social

desirability, the average frequency of acute adverse reactions for participants who have never consumed nicotine simultaneously with cannabis was significantly higher than participants who have consumed both products simultaneously, F(1, 291) = 4.94, p = .027.

Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions. Levene's test for equality of variance revealed that the assumption of homogeneity of variances was violated (p = .001). A Welch t-test was therefore conducted and revealed that there was not a statistically significant difference in the mean average distress rating of acute adverse reactions between participants that have consumed nicotine simultaneously with cannabis (M = 1.26, SD = 0.77, n = 192) and participants who have never consumed nicotine simultaneously with cannabis (M = 1.23, SD = 0.94, n = 99), t(167.39) = -.31, p = .758. After controlling for social desirability, these mean differences remained nonsignificant, F(1, 285) < .0005, p = .989.

#### Simultaneous Polysubstance Use of Cannabis and Alcohol Associations

#### Hypothesis 1c.

Total Acute Adverse Reactions. The association between cannabis and alcohol simultaneous polysubstance use frequency and total acute adverse reactions was not statistically significant, r(454) = -.04, p = .351. Even after controlling for social desirability via partial correlation, the relationship between the percentage of cannabis uses in which alcohol was also used and total acute adverse reactions remained nonsignificant,  $r_{partial}(446) = -.04$ , p = .431. Please see Table 3 for a summary of the Pearson correlation statistics between total acute adverse reactions and each predictor variable.

**Table 3**Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Total Acute Adverse Reactions

Variable	Total Acute Adverse Reactions				
	r	p			
Cannabis and Alcohol SPU Frequency <sup>a</sup>	04	.351			
Cannabis and Nicotine SPU Frequency <sup>b</sup>	.10	.037°			
Trait PA	09	.057			
Trait NA	.31	< .0005*			
Body Weight <sup>d</sup>	07	.133			
$BMI^d$	05	.278			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Frequency represents the percentage of cannabis uses in which alcohol was also used

Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions. Both variables, cannabis and alcohol simultaneous polysubstance use frequency and average frequency of acute adverse reactions, were not normally distributed when a Normal Q-Q plot was examined. However, as both variables have comparable distribution shapes (i.e., positive skewness) (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2006) and as a Pearson's correlation analysis is robust to normality violations (Knief & Forstmeier, 2021), a Pearson's correlation was nonetheless conducted. A bivariate correlation found between cannabis and alcohol simultaneous polysubstance use and average frequency of acute adverse reactions was not significant, r(454) = -.01, p = .883. This finding also remained nonsignificant when controlling for social desirability,  $r_{partial}(449) = .004$ , p = .936. See Table 4 for a summary of the Pearson correlation statistics between average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced and each predictor variable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Frequency represents the percentage of cannabis uses in which nicotine was also used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup>Correlation did not maintain significance after Benjamini-Hochberg correction

d Variables for exploratory hypotheses

<sup>\*</sup> p < .001

Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions

Variable	Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reac				
	r	p			
Cannabis and Alcohol SPU Frequency <sup>a</sup>	01	.883			
Cannabis and Nicotine SPU Frequency <sup>b</sup>	.05	.326			
Trait PA	07	.148			
Trait NA	.35	< .0005*			
Body Weight <sup>c</sup>	11	.021*			
$BMI^{c}$	05	.282			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Frequency represents the percentage of cannabis uses in which alcohol was also used

Table 5

Table 4

Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions. A bivariate correlation between cannabis and alcohol simultaneous polysubstance use frequency and average distress rating of acute adverse reactions experienced was not statistically significant, r(439) = .05, p = .258. After controlling for social desirability, this relationship remained nonsignificant,  $r_{partial}(434) = .06$ , p = .253. See Table 5 for a summary of the Pearson correlation statistics between average distress rating of acute adverse reactions experienced and each predictor variable.

Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions

Variable	Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions				
	r	p			
Cannabis and Alcohol SPU Frequency <sup>a</sup>	.05	.258			
Cannabis and Nicotine SPU Frequency <sup>b</sup>	.10	$.034^{c}$			
Trait PA	06	.257			
Trait NA	.24	< .0005*			
Body Weight <sup>d</sup>	14	.004*			
$BMI^d$	03	.520			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Frequency represents the percentage of cannabis uses in which alcohol was also used

b Frequency represents the percentage of cannabis uses in which nicotine was also used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup>Variables for exploratory hypotheses

<sup>\*</sup> p < .05

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Frequency represents the percentage of cannabis uses in which nicotine was also used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup>Correlation did not maintain significance after Benjamini-Hochberg correction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup>Variables for exploratory hypotheses

<sup>\*</sup> p < .001

#### Simultaneous Polysubstance Use of Cannabis and Nicotine Associations

#### Hypothesis 1d.

Total Acute Adverse Reactions. An association was not found between simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and nicotine frequency and total acute adverse reactions, when corrected with the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure, r(451) = .10, p = .037. Similar to hypothesis 1c, a partial correlation was conducted to control for social desirability. After partialling out social desirability, the relationship between the percentage of cannabis uses in which nicotine was also used and total acute adverse reactions remained nonsignificant,  $r_{partial}(446) = .07$ , p = .163.

Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions. Two outliers were detected via scatterplot. Though, upon more examination for both cases, and the large sample size, the outliers were included in the analyses as they were not suspected of being data-entry errors. Both variables, simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and nicotine frequency and average frequency of acute adverse reactions, were not normally distributed when a Normal Q-Q plot was examined. However, both variables have similar distribution shapes and as a Pearson's correlation analysis is robust to normality violations, a Pearson's correlation was conducted. An association was not found between simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and nicotine frequency and average frequency of acute adverse reactions, r(454) = .05, p = .326. Additionally, when controlling for social desirability via partial correlation, the relationship was still nonsignificant,  $r_{partial}(449) = .01$ , p = .789.

Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions. The average distress rating of acute adverse reactions was normally distributed when examining a Normal Q-Q plot. However, cannabis and nicotine simultaneous polysubstance frequency was not normally distributed, but

the distribution shape was similar to the average distress rating Normal Q-Q plot. An association was not discovered between simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and nicotine frequency and average distress rating of acute adverse reactions experienced when corrected with the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure, r(439) = .05, p = .034. This finding remained nonsignificant when controlling for social desirability,  $r_{partial}(434) = .08$ , p = .084.

#### Trait Positive Affect Associations

#### Hypothesis 2a.

Total Acute Adverse Reactions. There was no correlation found between positive affect and total acute adverse reactions experienced, r(441) = -.09, p = .057. Further, a partial correlation was also performed to control for social desirability. After partialling out social desirability, the relationship between positive affect and total acute adverse reactions remained nonsignificant,  $r_{partial}(436) = .06$ , p = .201.

Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions. Three outliers were detected via scatterplot. Similar to previous analyses discussed, the outliers were included in the analyses. The positive affect variable was normally distributed when examining a Normal Q-Q plot. However, the average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced was not normally distributed, and although the distribution shape was not similar to the positive affect Normal Q-Q plot, a Pearson's correlation analysis is robust to normality violations. There was no association found between positive affect and average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced, r(443) = -.07, p = .148. Additionally, when controlling for social desirability via partial correlation, this relationship was still nonsignificant,  $r_{partial}(438) = .06$ , p = .224.

Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions. Positive affect was not associated with average distress rating of acute adverse reactions experienced, r(428) = -.06, p = .257. This

finding remained nonsignificant when controlling for social desirability,  $r_{partial}$  (423) = -.01, p = .862.

## Trait Negative Affect Associations

## Hypothesis 2b.

Total Acute Adverse Reactions. The total adverse reactions variable was normally distributed when examined using a Normal Q-Q plot. However, negative affect was not normally distributed, but the distribution shape was similar to the total acute adverse reactions Normal Q-Q plot. There was a positive correlation between negative affect and total acute adverse reactions experienced, r(438) = .31, p < .001. Further, a partial correlation was also performed to control for social desirability. After partialling out social desirability, this positive relationship between negative affect and total acute adverse reactions remained significant,  $r_{partial}(433) = .20$ , p < .0005.

Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions. Four outliers were detected via scatterplot. However, upon further examination of each case, and the large sample size, the outliers were included in the analyses. Both the average frequency of adverse reactions experienced, and negative affect variables were not normally distributed when examining a Normal Q-Q Plot. However, the distribution was similar in shape to each other. There was a positive correlation between negative affect and the average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced, r(441) = .35, p < .001. Additionally, when controlling for social desirability via partial correlation, this significant positive relationship remained significant,  $r_{partial}(436) = .28$ , p < .0005.

Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions. A positive correlation was found between negative affect and average distress rating of acute adverse reactions experienced,

r(427) = .24, p < .001. This positive association remained significant when controlling for social desirability,  $r_{partial}(422) = .22$ , p < .0005.

## Trait Positive Affect Predictions

## Hypothesis 3a.

that the residual spread increased as the predicted values increased (i.e., increasing funnel-shaped distribution). Three outliers were detected (i.e., studentized deleted residuals greater than 3 standard deviations), however, the outliers were valid (i.e., not due to data-entry errors) and were kept in the analyses. At the second block entry (i.e., "model 2"), the hierarchical multiple regression showed that the addition of positive affect did not show a significant change in  $R^2$  in predicting total acute adverse reactions, F(1,428) = 1.49, p = .223. Hierarchical multiple regression analyses done in this study were also conducted using social desirability scores as a control measure. The findings remained nonsignificant, F(1,423) = 2.85, p = .092. See Table 6 for a summary of the hierarchical multiple regression statistics for predicting total acute adverse reactions with positive affect as an added variable to the model. In addition, see Table 7 for simple correlations between all of the independent variables and each of the three outcome variables used in the remaining hierarchical multiple regression analyses.

**Table 6**Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Positive Affect Predicting Total Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis

Dependent: Total Acute Adverse Reactions	В	SE B	β	$R^2$	$R^2_{adj}$	р
Model 1 (covariates)				.04	.04	< .0005
Constant	9.55	.63				
Age	08	.02	18			
Gender	65	.44	07			
Cannabis Use Frequency	< .0005	.01	<.01			
Model 2 (variables)				.05	.04	.223 <sup>a</sup>
Constant	10.29	.87				
Age	07	.02	17			
Gender	66	.44	07			
Cannabis Use Frequency	< .0005	.01	<.01			
Trait Positive Affect	03	.02	06			_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Value for change in R<sup>2</sup> when adding Trait PA to model

Table 7

Pearson Correlation Coefficients Between Independent Variables and Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis in Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analyses

	Dependent Variable					
Independent Variable	Total Acute	Average Frequency	Average Distress			
	Adverse Reactions	of Acute Adverse	Rating of Acute			
		Reactions	Adverse Reactions			
Age	20*	25*	18*			
Cannabis Use Frequency <sup>a</sup>	04	34*	30*			
Positive Affect	09	07	06			
Negative Affect	.31*	.35*	.24*			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Number of days for using cannabis in the last 3 months (i.e., 12 weeks)

Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions. The assumption of homoscedasticity was violated (i.e., increasing funnel-shaped distribution). Six outliers were detected (i.e., studentized deleted residuals greater than 3 standard deviations), however, the outliers were valid (i.e., not due to data-entry errors) and were kept in the analyses. At the second block entry (i.e., "model 2"), the hierarchical multiple regression showed that positive affect did not show a significant change in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  in predicting average frequency of acute adverse reactions, F(1,429) =

<sup>\*</sup> p < .01

.47, p = .493. See Table 8 for a summary of the hierarchical multiple regression statistics for predicting the average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced with positive affect as an added variable to the model. However, after controlling for socially desirable responses, the addition of positive affect did reveal a significant change in  $R^2$ , F(1,424) = 4.72, p = .030.

**Table 8**Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Positive Affect Predicting Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis

Dependent: Average Frequency of Acute	В	SE B	β	$R^2$	$R^2_{adj}$	p
Adverse Reactions					-	
Model 1 (covariates)				.17	.17	< .0005
Constant	16.16	1.25				
Age	15	.04	16			
Gender	-2.56	.89	13			
Cannabis Use Frequency	07	.01	29			
Model 2 (variable)				.18	.17	.493a
Constant	16.99	1.75				
Age	146	.04	16			
Gender	-2.57	.89	13			
Cannabis Use Frequency	07	.01	29			
Trait Positive Affect	03	.05	.05			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Value for change in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  when adding Trait PA to model

## Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions. The assumption of

homoscedasticity was violated, in that the residual spread increased as the predicted values increased (i.e., increasing funnel-shaped distribution). One outlier was detected (i.e., studentized deleted residuals greater than 3 standard deviations), however, the outliers were valid and were kept in the analyses. At the second block entry (i.e., "model 2"), the hierarchical multiple regression showed that positive affect did not show a significant change in  $R^2$  in predicting the average distress rating of acute adverse reactions experienced, F(1,414) = .42, p = .516. This finding remained nonsignificant when controlling for social desirability, F(1,409) = .11, p = .745. Refer to Table 9 for a summary of the hierarchical multiple regression statistics for

predicting the average distress rating of acute adverse reactions experienced with positive affect as an added variable to the model.

**Table 9**Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Positive Affect Predicting Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis

Dependent: Average Distress Rating of	В	SE B	β	$R^2$	$R^2_{adj}$	p
Acute Adverse Reactions						
Model 1 (covariates)				.14	.13	< .0005
Constant	1.78	.12				
Age	01	<.01	09			
Gender	27	.09	15			
Cannabis Use Frequency	01	<.01	26			
Model 2 (variable)				.14	.13	.516 <sup>a</sup>
Constant	1.85	.17				
Age	01	<.01	09			
Gender	27	.09	15			
Cannabis Use Frequency	01	<.01	26			
Trait Positive Affect	<.01	.01	03			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Value for change in R<sup>2</sup> when adding Trait PA to model

# Trait Negative Affect Predictions

#### Hypothesis 3b.

Total Acute Adverse Reactions. Two outliers were detected (i.e., studentized deleted residuals greater than 3 standard deviations), however, the outliers were valid and were kept in the analyses. At the second block entry (i.e., "model 2"), the hierarchical multiple regression showed that negative affect did indicate a significant change in  $R^2$  in predicting total acute adverse reactions, F(1,425) = 29.73, p < .001. The variance explained increased by 6.2% with the addition of trait negative affect to the model. There was still a significant change in  $R^2$  after controlling for social desirability, F(1,420) = 10.14, p = .002. See Table 10 for a summary of the hierarchical multiple regression statistics for predicting total acute adverse reactions with negative affect as an added variable to the model.

**Table 10**Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Negative Affect Predicting Total Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis

Dependent: Total Acute Adverse Reactions	В	SE B	β	$R^2$	$R^2_{adj}$	p
Model 1 (covariates)				.05	.04	< .0005
Constant	9.55	.63				
Age	08	.02	18			
Gender	69	.44	08			
Cannabis Use Frequency	< .0005	.01	<.01			
Model 2 (variable)				.11	.10	< .0005a
Constant	5.90	.90				
Age	05	.02	13			
Gender	30	.43	03			
Cannabis Use Frequency	<.0005	.01	.01			
Trait Negative Affect	.14	.03	.26			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Value for change in R<sup>2</sup> when adding Trait NA to model

Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions. The assumption of homoscedasticity was violated. Five outliers were detected (i.e., studentized deleted residuals greater than 3 standard deviations), though, the outliers were valid (i.e., not due to data-entry errors) and were kept in the analyses. At the second block entry (i.e., "model 2"), the hierarchical multiple regression showed that negative affect did show a significant change in  $R^2$  in predicting average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced, F(1,427) = 36.05, p < .001. The variance explained increased by 6.4% with the addition of trait negative affect to the model. Therefore model 2, which included the addition of trait negative affect, explained 23% of the variation in average frequency acute adverse reactions to cannabis. After controlling for social desirability, a significant change in  $R^2$  remained, F(1,420) = 10.14, p = .002. See Table 11 for a summary of the hierarchical multiple regression statistics for predicting the average frequency of acute adverse reactions with negative affect as an added variable to the model.

Table 11

Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Negative Affect Predicting Average Frequency Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis

Dependent: Average Frequency of Acute	В	SE B	β	$R^2$	$R^2_{adj}$	р
Adverse Reactions						
Model 1 (covariates)				.17	.17	< .0005
Constant	15.99	1.25				
Age	15	.04	16			
Gender	-2.59	.87	14			
Cannabis Use Frequency	07	.01	29			
Model 2 (variables)				.24	.23	< .0005 <sup>a</sup>
Constant	8.05	1.79				
Age	10	.04	11			
Gender	-1.76	.85	09			
Cannabis Use Frequency	07	.01	28			
Trait Negative Affect	.31	.05	.27			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Value for change in R<sup>2</sup> when adding Trait NA to model

## Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions. The assumption of

homoscedasticity was violated (i.e., increasing funnel-shaped distribution). One outlier was detected (i.e., studentized deleted residuals greater than 3 standard deviations), however, the outlier was valid (i.e., not due to data-entry errors) and was kept in the analysis. At the second block entry (i.e., "model 2"), the hierarchical multiple regression showed that negative affect did reveal a significant change in  $R^2$  in predicting the average distress rating of acute adverse reactions experienced, F(1,413) = 10.38, p = .001. The variance explained increased by 2.1% with the addition of trait negative affect to the model. There was still a significant change in  $R^2$  after controlling for social desirability, F(1,408) = 5.96, p = .015. Refer to Table 12 for a summary of the hierarchical multiple regression statistics for predicting the average distress rating of acute adverse reactions with negative affect as an added variable to the model.

Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Trait Negative Affect Predicting Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis

Dependent: Average Distress Rating of	В	SE B	β	$R^2$	$R^2_{adj}$	p
Acute Adverse Reactions						
Model 1 (covariates)				.14	.13	< .0005
Constant	1.76	.12				
Age	01	<.01	09			
Gender	29	.09	16			
Cannabis Use Frequency	01	<.01	26			
Model 2 (variable)				.16	.15	$.001^{a}$
Constant	1.32	.18				
Age	01	<.01	06			
Gender	24	.09	14			
Cannabis Use Frequency	01	<.01	25			
Trait Negative Affect	.02	.01	.15			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Value for change in R<sup>2</sup> when adding Trait NA to model

## **Exploratory Hypotheses**

Table 12

## **Body Weight Associations**

#### Hypothesis 1a.

Total Acute Adverse Reactions. Two outliers were detected via scatterplot. However, upon further examination for both cases (e.g., checking for data-entry errors), and the large sample size, the outliers were included in the analyses. A correlation was not found between body weight and total acute adverse reactions, r(447) = -.07, p = .133. After controlling for social desirability via partial correlation, the relationship between body weight and total acute adverse reactions remained nonsignificant,  $r_{partial}(442) = -.08$ , p = .085.

Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions. Three outliers were detected via scatterplot. However, upon further examination for both cases (e.g., data-entry errors), and the large sample size, the outliers were included in the analyses. A small negative correlation was observed between body weight and average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced,

r(450) = -.11, p = .021. Additionally, when controlling for social desirability via partial correlation, this negative association remained significant,  $r_{partial}(436) = -.12$ , p = .010.

Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions. Three outliers were detected via scatterplot. However, upon further examination for each case, and the large sample size, the outliers were included in the analyses. A small negative association was found between body weight and average distress rating of acute adverse reactions experienced, r(435) = -.14, p = .004. After controlling for social desirability, this relationship stayed negative and remained significant,  $r_{partial}(430) = -.15$ , p = .002.

#### **Body Mass Index Associations**

# Hypothesis 1b.

Total Acute Adverse Reactions. One outlier was detected via scatterplot. Upon additional inspection of the case, and the large sample size, the outlier was included in the analysis. An association was not found between BMI and total acute adverse reactions, r(446) = -.05, p = .278. Analogous to exploratory hypothesis 1a, a partial correlation was also performed to control for social desirability. After partialling out social desirability, there was still no relationship between BMI and total acute adverse reactions,  $r_{partial}(446) = -.07$ , p = .146.

Average Frequency of Acute Adverse Reactions. Similar to above, upon further examination of the case, the outlier was included in the analysis. BMI was not correlated with average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced, r(449) = -.05, p = .282. The relationship between BMI and average frequency of acute adverse reactions after partialling out social desirability remained nonsignificant,  $r_{partial}(444) = -.07$ , p = .147.

Average Distress Rating of Acute Adverse Reactions. One outlier was detected via scatterplot and was included in the analysis. BMI was not associated with average distress rating

of acute adverse reactions experienced, r(434) = -.03, p = .520. This finding also remained nonsignificant when controlling for social desirability,  $r_{partial}(429) = -.04$ , p = .373.

#### Discussion

The primary purpose of this study was to investigate how simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and trait affect were associated with acute adverse reactions to cannabis; specifically, on the total, average frequency, and average distress ratings of these acute adverse reactions.

Additionally, an exploratory examination was conducted to determine if body weight and BMI were related to the three variables measuring acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

# Simultaneous Polysubstance Use and Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis Cannabis and Alcohol Comparisons and Associations

Hypothesis 1a was partially supported when statistically significant mean differences were found in the total acute adverse reaction scores, but not in the average frequencies or average distress ratings of acute adverse reactions when comparing participants that have consumed cannabis simultaneously with alcohol and participants who have never consumed cannabis simultaneously with alcohol. From our study, participants who engaged in simultaneous cannabis and alcohol use scored higher on total acute adverse reactions, meaning that consuming cannabis and alcohol on the same occasion increased the likelihood of experiencing more unique acute adverse reactions (e.g., anxiety and paranoia experiences versus only experiencing paranoia) than someone who consumed cannabis without alcohol in any one session. These findings are consistent with some previous studies where individuals who engage in SPU of cannabis and alcohol were more likely to have more unique negative acute adverse reactions to cannabis (Fernández-Calderón et al., 2020; Lipperman-Kreda et al., 2017; Manwell et al., 2019). These results are also comparable to an ecological momentary assessment study where SAM

(i.e., simultaneous alcohol and marijuana) use was related to more violence (i.e., argument, injury, or physical fight) the morning after compared to using marijuana alone (Lipperman-Kreda et al., 2017). Another study supporting these findings discovered that university students who participated in SAM use reported more substantial acute effects for symptoms such as clumsiness and difficulty concentrating than the young adults who consumed alcohol or marijuana only (Lee et al., 2017). These more prominent acute effects may be due to the synergistic effects (i.e., increase the effects of one or more drugs; Alsherbiny & Li, 2018) between cannabis and alcohol (Ramaekers et al., 2011). As both synergistic or additive effects have been observed to be positively associated with acute adverse reactions, these greater mean differences in total acute adverse reactions to cannabis may be the result of the synergistic (or potentially additive) effects from the simultaneous use of cannabis and alcohol (e.g., Chihuri et al., 2017; Meier & Hatsukami, 2016; Pape et al., 2009)

However, hypothesis 1c was not supported; there was not a statistically significant positive correlation between SPU of cannabis and alcohol frequency (i.e., "frequency" representing the percentage of cannabis uses in which alcohol was also used) and acute adverse reactions to cannabis. Even though there was no positive relationship between SPU of cannabis and alcohol frequency and acute adverse reactions to cannabis, our results support some previous literature where neither synergistic nor additive effects occurred when simultaneously using THC and ethanol products (Ballard & de Wit, 2011). This decrease in acute effects overall has previously been proposed to be due to either THC lessening the acute effects from ethanol or decreasing the desire to consume more alcohol (e.g., Ballard & de Wit, 2011).

## Cannabis and Nicotine Comparisons and Associations

Hypothesis 1b was not supported, and after controlling for socially desirable responding, our results either showed no association or was opposite to what we hypothesized (depending on the acute adverse reaction scale); participants who have never consumed nicotine simultaneously with cannabis experienced a higher frequency of acute adverse reactions than participants who have never consumed both products simultaneously. Similarly, hypothesis 1d was not supported, even after accounting for social desirability; no positive correlation was found between simultaneous polysubstance use of cannabis and nicotine frequency (i.e., "frequency" representing the percentage of cannabis uses in which nicotine was also used) and acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

Although past research has shown that nicotine increases the acute adverse effects of THC (Crummy et al., 2020; Manwell et al., 2019), our study's findings (after controlling for socially desirable responses) revealed no relationships, or when we did uncover a connection, it was contrary to what we hypothesized; participants who engaged in cannabis and nicotine simultaneous use had lower mean scores on the average frequency of acute adverse reactions to cannabis compared to those that have never engaged in cannabis and nicotine simultaneous use. However, these findings support some emerging evidence on nicotine and cannabinoid combinations that discovered that prior nicotine use decreased locomotor sensitization to cannabinoids (i.e., *preceding nicotine use* decreased the behavioural response to the same dose of cannabinoid; Rigo et al., 2020) (Crummy et al., 2020). Also, and in parallel with our findings, Crummy and colleagues (2020) concluded that there was no change in locomotor sensitization to nicotine following cannabinoid use (i.e., *preceding cannabinoid use* did not change the behavioural response to the same dose of nicotine; Rigo et al., 2020) (Crummy et al., 2020).

These sensitization relationships (and lack of) may offer a potential explanation as to why our sample of simultaneous cannabis and nicotine users had a lower frequency of experiencing adverse reactions, or why our two groups did not differ on the other acute adverse reaction scales. The likelihood of experiencing acute reactions, in general, is possibly influenced by the order in which the person uses cannabis and nicotine when engaging in SPU.

#### **Trait Affect and Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis**

#### Trait Positive Affect Associations and Predictions

Hypothesis 2a was also not supported; no significant negative correlation was found between positive affect and acute adverse reactions to cannabis. Hypothesis 3a was partially supported, although with small effect sizes; when factoring in the covariates, age, gender, cannabis consumption frequency, and social desirability, the addition of trait positive affect did explain a statistically greater amount of the variation in the average frequency of acute adverse reactions to cannabis, specifically.

As previous studies have found a positive association between PA and 5-HT (e.g., William et al., 2006) and a negative association between PA and cortisol (e.g., Hoyt et al., 2015), a chemical reaction may be occurring between the cannabinoids and 5-HT and cortisol that may be serving as a protective factor against acute adverse reactions. Additionally, we may not have found a significant negative correlation or larger effect size as the scale we used to measure acute reactions to cannabis was specific to typically perceived *adverse* reactions. However, had this study also examined acute *positive* reactions, we may have seen a positive association between positive affect and acute positive reactions to cannabis. To further explore this possibility, future studies should examine the relationship between *positive* affect and acute *positive* reactions to

cannabis while simultaneously investigating the association between *negative* affect and acute *negative* reactions to cannabis.

#### Trait Negative Affect Associations and Predictions

However, hypothesis 2b was supported; people with higher trait negative affect reported more acute adverse reactions to cannabis. In addition, hypothesis 3b was also supported; the addition of trait negative affect did explain a statistically greater amount of the variation in acute adverse reactions to cannabis.

Although our findings support our hypotheses, these findings are not consistent with some previous studies investigating the relationship between negative affect and acute adverse responses to cannabis. LaFrance et al. (2020) measured depression, anxiety, and stress, which they classified as their *negative affect* variables, using the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21 (DASS-21). The researchers concluded that neither depression, anxiety, nor stress were significantly positively associated with acute adverse reactions to cannabis (LaFrance et al., 2020). However, they speculated that this was because the timeframe of their independent variable, measured by DASS-21, assessed negative affect over the last week (LaFrance et al., 2020). In contrast, their dependent variable, measured by ARS, was over one's lifetime (i.e., indefinite) (LaFrance et al., 2020). Fortunately, the PANAS scale used in this study to measure affect coincides with the timeframe of the ARS scale, so this is potentially why this study detected a relationship between negative affect, where some previous studies did not (e.g., LaFrance et al., 2020).

The effect of trait negative affect found in this study may be grounded in the set and setting theory, where the drug response, in this case, the cannabis response, is dependent on pharmacological or non-pharmacological influences like intention (i.e., "set") and environment

(i.e., "setting") (Hartogsohn, 2016; WHO, 2016). Similar to positive affect, earlier studies have found associations between NA and cortisol, specifically a positive link (e.g., Piazza et al., 2013) – people with higher NA scores also had higher blood cortisol levels. These higher cortisol levels may be stress-inducing, thus providing a stressful mindset, or "set", while consuming cannabis which may increase the likelihood of experiencing acute adverse reactions to cannabis. For instance, if someone's intentions while consuming cannabis are negative (e.g., in a bad mindset), their experience with cannabis may also be negative (e.g., experiencing an acute adverse reaction). Therefore, if someone has high trait negative affect, a general tendency to respond negatively to their environment, this negative predisposition may increase their chances of experiencing acute *adverse* reactions to cannabis.

## **Exploratory Hypotheses**

## Body Weight and Body Mass Index and Acute Adverse Reactions to Cannabis

Exploratory hypothesis 1a was partially supported; a negative correlation was found between body weight and the average frequency of acute adverse reactions experienced. Another negative association was also found between body weight and average distress of acute adverse reactions experienced; however, this negative association was not found for the total acute adverse reactions experienced. Exploratory hypothesis 1b was not supported; no significant negative correlation was found between BMI and cannabis acute adverse reactions.

Although BMI was not associated with any of the three facets of cannabis acute adverse reactions measured here, body weight had a small negative correlation with the average frequency and the average distress rating of the acute adverse responses experienced. A possible explanation for this negative association between body weight and acute adverse reactions to cannabis is the dose in relation to body weight. It may be that the lower the absolute body

weight, the more likely someone will over-consume cannabis for their weight. Previous studies have shown that the higher the quantity of cannabis consumed increases the likelihood of experiencing acute adverse effects, especially with cannabis products containing a greater amount of THC (e.g., Hunault et al., 2009). Therefore, the susceptibility to cannabis acute adverse reactions may increase as body weight decreases due to a lower physiological tolerance per unit of cannabis and less body fat within which the cannabis can remain inactive.

#### Limitations

Nevertheless, the conclusions from this study should be evaluated along with the limitations. As this was a retrospective cross-sectional design, participants may not accurately remember their past experiences with cannabis use. In addition to their recall accuracy, we do not know how far back in time they are reflecting and thus reporting. That is, some participants may have been reporting incidents that occurred within the last few days, while others may have been reporting events that occurred months or years ago. Future research should incorporate longitudinal study designs to limit recall and timeframe reporting errors. Additionally, statistically significant results found in this study were often associated with low effect sizes (e.g., mean differences, correlations, proportion of variances), which can occur when analyzing large sample sizes. Another limitation of this study revolves around measuring cannabis dose, especially concerning retrospective studies, as the amount of cannabis consumed is associated with acute effects (WHO, 2016). Furthermore, many participants are often inaccurate at reporting the types of cannabinoids in their cannabis products and the quantity of which they consume them. Because of these issues, we could not incorporate cannabis dose as a covariate in our analyses. Studies of the typical amounts of THC and other cannabinoids in commonly used

cannabis preparations should be priorities for future retrospective research on the short-term health effects of cannabis.

For our exploratory hypotheses, self-reported BMI was being used as an indirect measure of body fat percentage (Yu et al., 2013), and in-laboratory BMI assessments, or other more direct methods of BFP estimation should be used in future studies, such as skinfold calliper measurements or dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) (Harvard, 2020). Also, the design of this study was cross-sectional. Therefore, the associations and predictions found between simultaneous polysubstance use, trait affect, and body composition cannot be attributed as a cause of acute adverse experiences due to cannabis use.

## **Implications**

Investigating the association between SPU, trait affect, body composition, and acute adverse reactions to cannabis has implications for cannabis users, prescribing physicians, nurse practitioners, and public health educators. As non-medicinal cannabis use in Canada has been legalized since 2018, there may be an increase in people interested in trying cannabis for the first time, and they should be aware of their vulnerability to experiencing these acute adverse reactions. Additionally, physicians and practitioners prescribing medicinal cannabis should be mindful of their patients' susceptibility to these acute adverse reactions. Therefore, these findings, in particular the trait NA findings, may aid those who are inexperienced with cannabis and physicians by increasing their awareness of who may be at risk and why they may be at risk.

#### References

- Adam, E. K., Vrshek-Schallhorn, S., Kendall, A. D., Mineka, S., Zinbarg, R. E., & Craske, M. G. (2014). Prospective associations between the cortisol awakening response and first onsets of anxiety disorders over a six-year follow-up 2013 Curt Richter Award Winner.

  \*Psychoneuroendocrinology, 44, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.02.014
- Alsherbiny, M. A., & Li, C. G. (2018). Medicinal cannabis Potential drug interactions. *Medicines*, 6(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.3390/medicines6010003
- Andre, C., Hausman, J., & Guerriero, G. (2016). Cannabis sativa: The plant of the thousand and one molecules. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7(19), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00019
- Ballard, M. E., & de Wit, H. (2011). Combined effects of acute, very-low-dose ethanol and delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol in healthy human volunteers. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior*, 97(4), 627–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2010.11.013
- Barrett, S., Darredeau, C., & Pihl, R. (2006). Patterns of simultaneous polysubstance use in drug using university students. *Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental*, 21(4), 255–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.766
- Basu, P., Aloysius, M., Shah, N., & Brown Jr, R. (2014). Review article: The endocannabinoid system in liver disease, a potential therapeutic target. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *39*(8), 790–801. https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.12673
- Batalla, A., Crippa, J. A., Busatto, G. F., Guimaraes, F. S., Zuardi, A. W., Valverde, O., Atakan, Z., McGuire, P. K., Bhattacharyya, S., & Martín-Santos, R. (2014). Neuroimaging studies of acute effects of THC and CBD in humans and animals: A systematic review. *Current*

- Pharmaceutical Design, 20(13), 2168–2185. https://doi.org/10.2174/13816128113199990432
- Battistella, G., Fornari, E., Annoni, J., Chtioui, H., Dao, K., Fabritius, M., Favrat, B., Mall, J., Maeder, P., & Giroud, C. (2014). Long-term effects of cannabis on brain structure. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 39(9), 2041–2208. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.67
- Benjamini, Y., & Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the false discovery rate: A practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society*, *57*(1), 289–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- Borges, G., Bagge, C. L., & Orozco, R. (2016). A literature review and meta-analyses of cannabis use and suicidality. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 195, 63–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.02.007
- Brière, F. N., Fallu, J.-S., Descheneaux, A., & Janosz, M. (2011). Predictors and consequences of simultaneous alcohol and cannabis use in adolescents. *Addictive Behaviors*, *36*(7), 785–788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.02.012
- Bronwell, C. (2019). Reported marijuana use 'higher' at Canadian universities in 2019: Survey.

  Retrieved from https://www.macleans.ca/education/reported-marijuana-use-higher-at-canadian-universities-in-2019-survey/
- Broyd, S., van Hell, H., Beale, C., Yücel, M., & Solowij, N. (2016). Acute and chronic effects of cannabinoids on human cognition—A systematic review. *Biological Psychiatry*, 79(7), 557–567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.12.002

- CAMH. (n.d.). *Mental Illness and Addiction: Facts and Statistics*. The Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Retrieved August 25, 2021, from https://www.camh.ca/en/driving-change/the-crisis-is-real/mental-health-statistics
- Cannabis Act, S.C., c.16, s.1, (2018). Retrieved from https://www.parl.ca/Content/Bills/421/Government/C-45/C-45\_4/C-45\_4.PDF
- Cedarbaum, A. (2012). Alcohol metabolism. *Clinics in Liver Disease*, *16*(4). 667-685. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cld.2012.08.002
- Cerdá, M., & Kilmer, B. (2017). Uruguay's middle-ground approach to cannabis legalization. *International Journal on Drug Policy*, *42*, 118–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.02.007
- Chihuri, S., Li, G., & Chen, Q. (2017). Interaction of marijuana and alcohol on fatal motor vehicle crash risk: a case–control study. *Injury Epidemiology*, 4(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40621-017-0105-z
- Clark, L. A., Watson, D., & Leeka, J. (1989). Diurnal variation in the positive affects. *Motivation and Emotion*, 13(3), 205–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00995536
- Cowen, P. J., & Browning, M. (2015). What has serotonin to do with depression? *World Psychiatry*, 14(2), 158–160. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20229
- Cox, C. (2018). The Canadian Cannabis Act legalizes and regulates recreational cannabis use in 2018. *Health Policy*, 122(3), 205–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2018.01.009
- Crawford, J., & Henry, J. (2004). The Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS):

  Construct validity, measurement properties and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *43*(3), 245–265.

  https://doi.org/10.1348/0144665031752934

- Crépault, J. (2018). Cannabis legalization in Canada: Reflections on public health and the governance of legal psychoactive substances. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 6(220). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2018.00220
- Crummy, E. A., O'Neal, T. J., Baskin, B. M., & Ferguson, S. M. (2020). One Is Not Enough:

  Understanding and Modeling Polysubstance Use. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *14*, 569–569. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.00569
- Cummings, C., Beard, C., Habarth, J. M., Weaver, C., & Haas, A. (2019). Is the sum greater than its parts? Variations in substance-related consequences by conjoint alcohol-marijuana use patterns. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, *51*(4), 351–359. https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2019.1599473
- Davis, C., Slutske, W., Martin, N., Agrawal, A., & Lynskey, M. (2019). Identifying subtypes of cannabis users based on simultaneous polysubstance use. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 205, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107696
- Department of Justice Canada. (2020). *Cannabis legalization and regulation*. Retrieved from https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/cj-jp/cannabis/
- Elsohly, M. A., Mehmedic, Z., Foster, S., Gon, C., Chandra, S., & Church, J. C. (2016). Changes in cannabis potency over the last 2 decades (1995–2014): Analysis of current data in the United States. *Biological Psychiatry*, 79(7), 613–619. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.01.004
- Fernández-Calderón, F., Vidal-Giné, C., Rojas-Tejada, A. J., & Lozano-Rojas, Ó. M. (2020).

  Patterns of simultaneous polysubstance use among partygoers: Correlates and differences in adverse acute effects experienced. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 52(4), 344–356.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2020.1752959

- Filbey, F. M., Gohel, S., Prashad, S., & Biswal, B. B. (2018). Differential associations of combined versus isolated cannabis and nicotine on brain resting state networks. *Brain Structure & Function*, 223(7), 3317–3326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-018-1690-5
- Fisar, Z. (2009). Phytocannabinoids and endocannabinoids. *Current Drug Abuse Reviews*, 2(1), 51–75. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874473710902010051
- Freeman, A., Petrilli, K., Lees, R., Hindocha, C., Mokrysz, C., Curran, H., Saunders, R., & Freeman, T. (2019). How does cannabidiol (CBD) influence the acute effects of delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) in humans? A systematic review. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 107, 696–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.09.036
- Gertsch, J., Pertwee, R., & Di Marzo, V. (2010). Phytocannabinoids beyond the *Cannabis* plant

   do they exist? *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 160(3), 523–529.

  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00745.x
- Hall, W., & Degenhardt, L. (2014). The adverse health effects of chronic cannabis use. *Drug Testing and Analysis*, 6(1-2), 39–45.
- Hartogsohn, I. (2016). Set and setting, psychedelics and the placebo response: An extrapharmacological perspective on psychopharmacology. *Journal of*\*Psychopharmacology, 30(12), 1259–1267. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881116677852
- Harvard. (2020). *Measuring obesity*. https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/obesity-prevention-source/obesity-definition/how-to-measure-body-fatness/
- Hoyt, L. T., Craske, M. G., Mineka, S., & Adam, E. K. (2015). Positive and negative affect and arousal: cross-sectional and longitudinal associations with adolescent cortisol diurnal rhythms. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 77(4), 392–401.
  https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0000000000000178

- Huber, P. J. (1981). Robust statistics. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Huestis, M., Gorelick, D., Heishman, S., & Preston, K. (2001). Blockade of effects of smoked marijuana by the CBI-selective cannabinoid receptor antagonist SR141716. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 58(4), 322–328. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.58.4.322
- Hunault, C., Mensinga, T., Böcker, K., Schipper, C., Kruidenier, M., Leenders, M., Vries, I., & Meulenbelt, J. (2009). Cognitive and psychomotor effects in males after smoking a combination of tobacco and cannabis containing up to 69 mg delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC). *Psychopharmacology*, 204(1), 85–94.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-008-1440-0
- Iudici, A., Castelnuovo, G., & Faccio, E. (2015). New drugs and polydrug use: Implications for clinical psychology. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6, 267–267.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00267
- Jackson, D. N. (1987). Personality Research Form manual. Sigma Assessment Systems, Port Huron, MI.
- Jacobson, M. R., Watts, J. J., Boileau, I., Tong, J., & Mizrahi, R. (2019). A systematic review of phytocannabinoid exposure on the endocannabinoid system: Implications for psychosis. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29(3), 330–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.12.014
- Katona, I., & Freund, T. (2012). Multiple functions of endocannabinoid signaling in the brain. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *35*, 529-558. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevneuro-062111-150420

- Kayser, R. R., Haney, M., Raskin, M., Arout, C., & Simpson, H. B. (2020). Acute effects of cannabinoids on symptoms of obsessive-compulsive disorder: A human laboratory study. *Depression and Anxiety*, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.23032
- Khan, M. I., Sobocińska, A. A., Czarnecka, A. M., Król, M., Botta, B., & Szczylik, C. (2016).
  The therapeutic aspects of the Endocannabinoid System (ECS) for cancer and their development: From nature to laboratory. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 22(12), 1756–1766. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612822666151211094901
- Knief, U., & Forstmeier, W. (2021). Violating the normality assumption may be the lesser of two evils. *Behavior Research Methods*. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-021-01587-5
- Koppel, B. S., Brust, J. C., Fife, T., Bronstein, J., Youssof, S., Gronseth, G., & Gloss, D. (2014).
  Systematic review: Efficacy and safety of medical marijuana in selected neurologic disorders: Report of the Guideline Development Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology*, 82(17), 1556–1563.
  https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0000000000000363
- LaFrance, E. M., Stueber, A., Glodosky, N. C., Mauzay, D., & Cuttler, C. (2020). Overbaked:

  Assessing and predicting acute adverse reactions to cannabis. *Journal of Cannabis*Research, 2(3), 1 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42238-019-0013-x
- Laprairie, R., Bagher, A., Kelly, M., & Denovan-Wright, E. (2015). Cannabidiol is a negative allosteric modulator of the cannabinoid CB1 receptor. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 172(20), 4790–4805. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.13250
- Lee, C., Cadigan, J., & Patrick, M. (2017). Differences in reporting of perceived acute effects of alcohol use, marijuana use, and simultaneous alcohol and marijuana use. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 180, 391–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.08.029

- Leri, F., Bruneau, J., & Stewart, J. (2003). Understanding polydrug use: review of heroin and cocaine co-use. *Addiction*, 98(1), 7–22. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2003.00236.x
- Lin, L., Ilgen, M., Jannausch, M., & Bohnert, K. (2016). Comparing adults who use cannabis medically with those who use recreationally: Results from a national sample. *Addictive Behaviors*, *61*, 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.05.015
- Lipperman-Kreda, S., Gruenewald, P. J., Grube, J. W., & Bersamin, M. (2017). Adolescents, alcohol, and marijuana: Context characteristics and problems associated with simultaneous use. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *179*, 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.06.023
- Lu, H., & Mackie, K. (2016). An introduction to the endogenous cannabinoid system. *Biological Psychiatry*, 79(7), 516–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.07.028
- Lutz, B., Marsicano, G., Maldonado, R., & Hillard, C. J. (2015). The endocannabinoid system in guarding against fear, anxiety and stress. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 16(12), 705–718. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nrn4036
- Ma-Kellams, C., Lai, L., Taylor, S., & Lerner, J. (2016). The contribution of trait negative affect and stress to recall for bodily states. *Physiology & Behavior*, *167*, 274–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.09.024
- Manwell, L. A., Miladinovic, T., Raaphorst, E., Rana, S., Malecki, S., & Mallet, P. E. (2019).

  Chronic nicotine exposure attenuates the effects of Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol on anxietyrelated behavior and social interaction in adult male and female rats. *Brain and Behavior*, 9(11). https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.1375

- Martin-Calvo, N., Moreno-Galarraga, L., & Martinez-Gonzalez, M. (2016). Association between body mass index, waist-to-height ratio and adiposity in children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients*, 8(8), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8080512
- Martin-Santos, R., Crippa, J. A., Batalla, A., Bhattacharyya, S., Atakan, Z., Borgwardt, S., Allen, P., Seal, M., Langohr, K., Farré, M., Zuardi, A. W., & McGuire, P. K. (2012). Acute effects of a single, oral dose of d9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and cannabidiol (CBD) administration in healthy volunteers. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 18(32), 4966–4979. https://doi.org/10.2174/138161212802884780
- Matsuda, L. A., Lolait, S. J., Brownstein, M. J., Young, A. C., & Bonner, T. I. (1990). Structure of a cannabinoid receptor and functional expression of the cloned cDNA. *Nature*, *346*(6284), 561–564. https://doi.org/10.1038/346561a0
- McPartland, J. M. (2018). Cannabis systematics at the levels of family, genus, and species. *Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research*, *3*(1), 203–212. https://doi.org/10.1089/can.2018.0039
- Meier, E., & Hatsukami, D. K. (2016). A review of the additive health risk of cannabis and tobacco co-use. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *166*, 6–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.07.013
- Miller, K. G., Wright, A. G., Peterson, L. M., Kamarck, T. W., Anderson, B. A., Kirschbaum, C., Marsland, A. L., Muldoon, M. F., & Manuck, S. B. (2016). Trait positive and negative emotionality differentially associate with diurnal cortisol activity.
  Psychoneuroendocrinology, 68, 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.03.004
- Munro, S., Thomas, K. L., & Abu-Shaar. M. (1993). Molecular characterization of a peripheral receptor for cannabinoids. *Nature*, *365*(6441), 61–65. https://doi.org/10.1038/365061a0

- Naragon-Gainey, K., McMahon, T., & Park, J. (2018). The contributions of affective traits and emotion regulation to internalizing disorders: Current state of the literature and measurement challenges. *The American Psychologist*, 73(9), 1175–1186. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000371
- Oinonen, K., & Mazmanian, D. (2001). Does body fat protect against negative moods in women? *Medical Hypotheses*, *57*(3), 387–388. https://doi.org/10.1054/mehy.2001.1365
- Olthuis, J. V., Darredeau, C., & Barrett, S. P. (2013). Substance use initiation: The role of simultaneous polysubstance use. *Drug and alcohol review*, *32*(1), 67–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-3362.2012.00470.x
- Pape, H., Rossow, I., & Storvoll, E. E. (2009). Under double influence: Assessment of simultaneous alcohol and cannabis use in general youth populations. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *101*(1-2), 69–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.11.002
- Pasco, J. A., Williams, L. J., Jacka, F. N., Brennan, S. L., & Berk, M. (2013). Obesity and the relationship with positive and negative affect. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 47(5), 477–482. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867413483371
- Pava, M., Makriyannis, A., & Lovinger, D. (2016). Endocannabinoid signaling regulates sleep stability. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(3), 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0152473
- Pertwee, R. (2008). The diverse CB<sub>1</sub> and CB<sub>2</sub> receptor pharmacology of three plant cannabinoids: Δ 9 -tetrahydrocannabinol, cannabidiol and Δ 9 -tetrahydrocannabivarin. British Journal of Pharmacology, 153(2), 199–215.

  https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0707442

- Piazza, J. R., Charles, S. T., Stawski, R. S., & Almeida, D. M. (2013). Age and the association between negative affective states and diurnal cortisol. *Psychology and Aging*, 28(1), 47-56. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.lakeheadu.ca/10.1037/a0029983
- Pressman, S., & Cohen, S. (2005). Does positive affect influence health? *Psychological Bulletin*, *131*(6), 925–971. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.131.6.925
- Ramaekers, J. G., Theunissen, E. L., de Brouwer, M., Toennes, S. W., Moeller, M. R., & Kauert,
  G. (2011). Tolerance and cross-tolerance to neurocognitive effects of THC and alcohol in heavy cannabis users. *Psychopharmacology*, 214(2), 391–401.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-010-2042-1
- Ranasinghe, C., Gamage, P., Katulanda, P., Andraweera, N., Thilakarathne, S., & Tharanga, P. (2013). Relationship between Body Mass Index (BMI) and body fat percentage, estimated by bioelectrical impedance, in a group of Sri Lankan adults: A cross sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-797
- Rigo, F., Filošević, A., Petrović, M., Jović, K., & Andretić Waldowski, R. (2021). Locomotor sensitization modulates voluntary self-administration of methamphetamine in Drosophila melanogaster. *Addiction Biology*, 26(3), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/adb.12963
- Riskind, J. H., Kleiman, E. M., & Schafer, K. E. (2013). "Undoing" effects of positive affect:

  Does it buffer the effects of negative affect in predicting changes in depression? *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 32(4), 363–380.

  https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2013.32.4.363
- Roell, K. R., Reif, D. M., & Motsinger-Reif, A. A. (2017). An introduction to terminology and methodology of chemical synergy-perspectives from across disciplines. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 8, 158–158. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00158

- Salom, C. L., Betts, K. S., Williams, G. M., Najman, J. M., & Alati, R. (2016). Predictors of comorbid polysubstance use and mental health disorders in young adults-a latent class analysis. *Addiction*, 111(1), 156–164. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13058
- Saxon, L., Henriksson, S., Kvarnström, A., & Hiltunen, A. J. (2017). Affective changes during cognitive behavioural therapy-As measured by PANAS. *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health*, *13*(1), 115–124. https://doi.org/10.2174/1745017901713010115
- Serafini, K., Malin-Mayor, B., Nich, C., Hunkele, K., & Carroll, K. (2016). Psychometric properties of the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) in a heterogeneous sample of substance users. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 42(2), 203–212. https://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2015.1133632
- Serrano, A., & Parsons, L. H. (2011). Endocannabinoid influence in drug reinforcement, dependence and addiction-related behaviors. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *132*(3), 215–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2011.06.005
- Shuster, A., Patlas, M., Pinthus, J. H., & Mourtzakis, M. (2012). The clinical importance of visceral adiposity: A critical review of methods for visceral adipose tissue analysis. *The British Journal of Radiology*, 85(1009), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1259/bjr/38447238
- Silver, R. J. (2019). The endocannabinoid system of animals. *Animals*, 9(9), 1–15 https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9090686
- Small, E., & Cronquist, A. (1976). A practical and natural taxonomy for cannabis. *Taxon*, 25(4), 405–435. https://doi.org/10.2307/1220524

- Smith, J. M., Mader, J., Szeto, A. C. H., Arria, A. M., Winters, K. C., & Wilkes, T. C. R. (2019).

  Cannabis use for medicinal purposes among Canadian university students. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 64(5), 351–355. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743718818420
- Statistics Canada. (2021). Table 1 Prevalence of cannabis use in the past three months, by time relative to legalization and quarter, and selected demographics, household population aged 15 and older, Canada (provinces only), first quarters of 2018 and 2019, and fourth quarter of 2020. Retrieved from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2021004/article/00001/tbl/tbl01-eng.htm
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2006). *Using multivariate statistics* (Sixth Edition.). Pearson Education.
- Teismann, T., Brailovskaia, J., & Margraf, J. (2019). Positive mental health, positive affect and suicide ideation. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, 19(2), 165–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijchp.2019.02.003
- Thomas, B. F., & Elsohly, M. A. (2016). The analytical chemistry of cannabis: Quality assessment, assurance, and regulation of medicinal marijuana and cannabinoid preparations. Elsevier Publications.
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *54*(6), 1063–1070. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Watson, D., Wiese, D., Vaidya, J., & Tellegen, A. (1999). The two general activation systems of affect: Structural findings, evolutionary considerations, and psychobiological evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76(5), 820–838. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.76.5.820

- Wells, J. C., & Fewtrell, M. S. (2006). Measuring body composition. *Archives of disease in childhood*, 91(7), 612–617. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.2005.085522
- Whiting, P. F., Wolff, R. F., Deshpande, S., Di Nisio, M., Duffy, S., Hernandez, A., Keurentjes, J. C., Lang, S., Misso, K., Ryder, S., Schmidlkofer, S., Westwood, M., & Kleijnen, J. (2015). Cannabinoids for medical use: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*, 313(24), 2456–2473. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.6358
- Williams, E., Stewart-Knox, B., Helander, A., McConville, C., Bradbury, I., & Rowland, I. (2006). Associations between whole-blood serotonin and subjective mood in healthy male volunteers. *Biological Psychology*, 71(2), 171–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2005.03.002
- Wills, T. A., Sandy, J. M., Shinar, O., & Yaeger, A. (1999). Contributions of positive and negative affect to adolescent substance use: Test of a bidimensional model in a longitudinal study. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 13(4), 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.13.4.327
- Woods, S. (2007). The Endocannabinoid System: Mechanisms behind metabolic homeostasis and imbalance. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *120*(2), S9–S17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2006.11.013.
- World Health Organization. (2016). *The health and social effects of nonmedical cannabis* use. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/251056
- World Health Organization. (2020). *Management of substance abuse Cannabis*. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/substance\_abuse/facts/cannabis/en
- Yu, S., Visvanathan, T., Field, J., Ward, L. C., Chapman, I., Adams, R., Wittert, G., & Visvanathan, R. (2013). Lean body mass: The development and validation of prediction

equations in healthy adults. BMC Pharmacology & Toxicology, 14, 1-9.

https://doi.org/10.1186/2050-6511-14-53

Appendix A

# Demographic Information Questionnaire

#	Question	Response Format
1	What is your age?	years old (numerical)
2	What was your	1. Female
	biological sex at birth?	2. Male
		3. I do not identify with the options listed
		4. Prefer not to say
3	What is your gender?	1. Female
		2. Male
		3. Non-binary
		4. Transgender
		5. I do not identify with the options listed
		6. Prefer not to say
4	What is your	1. Asian
	race/ethnicity?	2. Black
		3. Caucasian (White)
		4. Hispanic/Latino/Latina/Latinx
		5. Indigenous (First Nations, Métis, or Inuit)
		6. Middle Eastern
		7. I do not identify with the options listed
		8. Prefer not to say
5	What is your sexual	Exclusively heterosexual
	orientation?	2. Predominantly heterosexual, only incidentally
		homosexual
		3. Predominately heterosexual, but more than incidentally
		homosexual
		4. Equally heterosexual and homosexual
		5. Predominately homosexual, but more than incidentally
		heterosexual
		6. Predominately homosexual, only incidentally
		heterosexual
		7. Exclusively homosexual
		8. No socio-sexual contacts or reactions (asexual)
		9. I do not identify with the options listed.
6	What is your nationality	10. Prefer not to say
6	What is your nationality	11. Canadian
	(i.e., country	12. Canadian with multiple citizenship.
	citizenship)?	13. None of the above. Please specify country/countries:
7	What country do you	1. Canada
	currently live in?	2. Not in Canada. Please specify country:
	•	

8	What country did you	1. Canada
	spend most of your life	2. Not in Canada. Please specify country:
	in?	2. 1100 in Canada. I lease specify country.
9	What is the highest level	1. None
	of education you have	2. Elementary School
	•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	completed?	3. Some High School
		4. High School Completed
		5. Some College or Technical
		6. College Completed
		7. Some Undergraduate
		8. Undergraduate Degree Completed
		9. Some Post Graduate
		10. Completed Post Graduate
10	What is your	<ol> <li>Employed full-time</li> </ol>
	work/employment	2. Employed part-time
	status?	3. Unemployed
11	Are you currently a	1. Yes – full time
	student at a university or	2. Yes – part time
	college?	3. No
12	What is your marital	1. Common-Law
	status?	2. In a committed relationship (not married or common-
	3000000	law)
		3. Married
		4. Separated or Divorced
		5. Single
		6. Widowed
13	What is your religious	1. Buddhist
13	affiliation?	2. Catholic
	arrination:	3. Christian
		<ul><li>4. Eastern Orthodox (e.g., Shinto, Jainism)</li><li>5. Hindu</li></ul>
		6. Jewish
		7. Muslim
		8. Protestant
		9. Sikh
		10. No religious affiliation
		11. None of these
14	What is the strength of	1. Not applicable (no religious affiliation)
	your religious beliefs?	2. Not strong at all
		3. Not very strong
		4. Somewhat strong
		5. Very strong
		6. Extremely strong
15	Which unit of height	1. Centimeter (cm)
	would you prefer to	2. Feet (ft) and inches (in)

	report with for your height?	
16	What is your height in centimeters (cm)?	1 (cm) (numerical)
17	What is your height in feet and inches? For example, if you are 5 feet and 4 inches, write: 5'4"	1 (ft)(in) (numerical)
18	Which unit of weight would you prefer to report with for your weight?	<ol> <li>Kilogram (kg)</li> <li>Pound (lb)</li> </ol>
19	How much do you weight in kilograms (kgs)?	1 (kg) (numerical)
20	How much do you weight in pounds (lbs)?	1(lb) (numerical)

# Appendix B

The Cannabis Reason, Age, Frequency, Type, and Setting Questionnaire (CRAFTS-Q)

Instructions: Please read the definition for *Cannabis* provided below. Additionally, some examples of common *Cannabis* terminology and products have been provided along with the definition.

Term	Definition
Cannabis (e.g., marijuana, weed, pot,	Refers to the generic name for drugs or
hash/hashish, THC, CBD)	compounds that come from plants
	belonging to the genus Cannabis.

#	Question		Response Format
1	Have you read the definition for <i>Cannabis</i> stated above? (If not, please read the definition for <i>Cannabis</i> and then continue to the remaining questions)	2.	Yes, and I understand the definition for <i>Cannabis</i> stated above. Yes, but I did not understand the definition for <i>Cannabis</i> stated above. No, I have not read the definition for <i>Cannabis</i> stated above.
2	Have you ever consumed cannabis (marijuana, weed, CBD, THC, etc.) in your lifetime?		No Yes
3	How old were you when you consumed cannabis for the first time?	1.	years old (numerical)
4	Do you currently consume any cannabis products (e.g., marijuana, weed, THC, CBD)?		No Yes
5	Have/Do you consider(ed) yourself to be a regular cannabis user?		No Yes
6	What <b>cannabinoids</b> ( <b>e.g., THC, CBD</b> ) have you consumed in your cannabis products in your lifetime? Please select all that apply.	2. 3. 4.	THC (Tetrahydrocannabinol) CBD (Cannabidiol) Other: Please specify Unsure
7	What <b>cannabinoid</b> (e.g., THC, CBD) <b>profiles</b> have you consumed in your cannabis products in <u>your lifetime</u> from the below options? Please select all that apply.		THC (Tetrahydrocannabinol) dominant cannabis product (e.g., "High THC") (i.e., a higher percentage of THC than CBD) CBD (Cannabidiol) dominant cannabis product (e.g., "High CBD") (i.e., a higher percentage of CBD than THC)

0	What correctional (a.g. THC CDD)	THC and 1:1") (i.e both THC 4. Unsure	ced cannabis product of d CBD (e.g., "Balanced e., similar percentage of C and CBD)
8	What cannabinoid (e.g., THC, CBD) profile have/do you consume(d) in your cannabis products most of the time from the below options? Please select one option only.	dominan "High Ti percentag 2. CBD (Ca cannabis CBD") (i CBD than 3. A balance THC and 1:1") (i.e.	etrahydrocannabinol) at cannabis product (e.g., HC") (i.e., a higher ge of THC than CBD) annabidiol) dominant a product (e.g., High i.e., a higher percentage of an THC) ced cannabis product of d CBD (e.g., "Balanced e., similar percentage of C and CBD)
9	What method(s) have you used to consume cannabis? Please select all that apply.	<ol> <li>Dabbing</li> <li>Edibles (</li> <li>Smoking hookah)</li> <li>Tincture dropped (</li> <li>Topicals</li> <li>Vaping (</li> </ol>	s (e.g., pills, liquid gels) (e.g., dab rig, dab pen) (e.g., brownies) g (e.g., joint, pipe, bong, s (e.g., liquid extract under tongue) (e.g., creams) i.e., using a vaporizer) e pen, dry herb vaporizer)
10	What method did/do you use <b>most of the time</b> to consume cannabis?	<ol> <li>Capsules</li> <li>Dabbing</li> <li>Edibles (</li> <li>Smoking hookah)</li> <li>Tincture dropped to</li> <li>Topicals</li> <li>Vaping (</li> <li>(e.g., vap</li> </ol>	s (e.g., pills, liquid gels) (e.g., dab rig, dab pen) (e.g., brownies) s (e.g., joint, pipe, bong, es (e.g., liquid extract under tongue) (e.g., creams) i.e., using a vaporizer) e pen, dry herb vaporizer)
11	For what purposes(s) did/do you consume cannabis <b>most of the time</b> ?	lessening disease; s prescribe 2. <i>Mainly/a</i>	Iways for al/therapeutic (i.e., symptoms and/or treating self-prescribed or d by a physician) purposes Iways for non-al/recreational purposes

12	What purpose(s) did/do you consume cannabis for in your lifetime?	<ol> <li>Equal (i.e., 50/50) cannabis consumption for medicinal/therapeutic and nonmedicinal/recreational purposes</li> <li>Only for medicinal/therapeutic (i.e., lessening symptoms and/or treating disease; self-prescribed or prescribed by a physician) purposes</li> <li>Only for non-medicinal/recreational purposes</li> <li>Both medicinal/therapeutic and</li> </ol>
13	If you did consume cannabis for medicinal/therapeutic (i.e., lessening symptoms and/or treating disease) purposes, is it self-prescribed or prescribed by a physician?	non-medicinal/recreational purposes  1. Self-prescribed (i.e., not prescribed by a physician)  2. Prescribed by a physician (e.g., family doctor)  3. Both. Self-prescribe and
	physician:	prescribed by a physician. For example, I self-prescribe cannabis to help me fall asleep, and I have prescription from a physician for cannabis to alleviate my anxiety.
14	What condition(s) led you to seek out cannabis for medicinal/therapeutic purposes (i.e., what is it self-prescribed/prescribed for)? Please select all that apply.	<ol> <li>Anxiety</li> <li>Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)</li> <li>Chronic pain</li> <li>Depression</li> <li>Stress</li> <li>Epilepsy</li> <li>Insomnia (i.e., a sleep disorder characterized by sleeplessness)</li> <li>Headaches</li> <li>Nightmares</li> <li>Appetite</li> <li>Muscle spasms</li> <li>Nausea</li> <li>Other: Please specify:</li></ol>
15	In the <u>last week (i.e., 7 days) from today</u> , how many <u>days</u> did you consume cannabis? For example, if today is Friday, how many days out of the week did you consume cannabis from last Friday?	day(s) in the last week (numerical)
16	In the <u>last month (i.e., 4 weeks) from</u> <u>today</u> , how many <u>days</u> did you consume cannabis?	day(s) in the last month (numerical)

	For example, if today is March 1 <sup>st</sup> , how many <b>days</b> did you consume cannabis from	
	February 1 <sup>st</sup> ?	
17	In the <u>last 3 months</u> (i.e., 12 weeks) from	day(s) in the last 3 months
	<u>today</u> , how many <u>days</u> did you consume cannabis?	(numerical)
	For example, if today is July 1st, how many	
	<b>days</b> did you consume cannabis from April 1 <sup>st</sup> ?	
18	When you have consumed cannabis, how	0. <b>Not applicable</b> (i.e., I mostly or
	many people were you around (regardless if	have only ever consumed cannabis
	they are consuming cannabis or not), <b>most</b>	by myself when no one else is
	of the time?	around)
		1. With <b>one</b> other person
		2. With <b>two</b> other people
		3. With <b>three</b> other people
		4. With <b>four</b> other people
		5. With <b>five</b> other people
		6. With <b>six or more</b> people
19	When you have consumed cannabis, how	0. <b>Not applicable</b> (i.e., I mostly or
	many of the people around you were <u>ALSO</u>	have only ever consumed cannabis
	consuming cannabis, most of the time?	by myself when no one else is
		around)
		1. None of the people around me are
		consuming cannabis
		2. Less than half of the people
		around me are consuming cannabis
		3. Half of the people around me are
		consuming cannabis when I am
		also consuming cannabis
		4. More than half of the people
		around me are consuming
		cannabis when I am also
		consuming cannabis
		5. All of the people around me are
		consuming cannabis when I am
		also consuming cannabis
20	What environment did/do you consume	1. Inside my own home/apartment
	cannabis in most of the time?	2. Inside someone else's
		home/apartment
		3. Outside in non-public space (e.g.,
		private backyard)
		4. Outside in public space (e.g., public
		park, public hiking trails)
		5. At work

		6.	School
		7.	Bars/Nightclub
		8.	Cannabis lounge/cafe
		9.	Other. Please specify:
21	What environment were/are you	1.	Inside my own home/apartment
	experiencing the effects of cannabis in most	2.	Inside someone else's
	of the time?		home/apartment
		3.	Outside in non-public space (e.g.,
			private backyard)
		4.	Outside in public space (e.g., public
			park, public hiking trails)
		5.	At work
		6.	School
		7.	Bars/Nightclub
		8.	Cannabis lounge/cafe
		9.	Other. Please specify:

# Appendix C

Simultaneous Polysubstance Use – Cannabis, Alcohol and Nicotine Questionnaire (SPU-CAN)

Instructions: Please read the definition for *Cannabis* provided below. Additionally, some examples of common *Cannabis* terminology and products have been provided along with the definition.

Term	Definition
Cannabis (e.g., marijuana, weed, pot,	Refers to the generic name for drugs or
hash/hashish, THC/CBD)	compounds that come from plants
	belonging to the genus Cannabis.

#	Question	Response Format
1	Have you ever used cannabis in your lifetime?	0. No 1. Yes
	Skip logic 1: If "Yes" is answered in Q1, participant goes to Q2. If "No"	
	is answered in Q1, participant skips to end of SPU-CAN questionnaire	
2	Have you ever consumed alcohol in your lifetime?	0. No 1. Yes
		1. 163
	Skip logic 1: If "Yes" is answered in Q2, participant goes to Q3. If "No"	
	is answered in Q2, participant skips	
2	to Q5.	0. No
3	Have you every consumed <b>alcohol simultaneously with cannabis</b> (i.e.,	0. No 1. Yes
	administering alcohol and cannabis on the same occasion)?	
	Skip logic 1: If "Yes" is answered in	
	Q3, participant goes to Q4. If "No"	
	is answered in Q3, participant skips	
4	to Q5.	(/ (numarical)
4	When you use(d) cannabis, what percentage of those times on average	% (numerical)
	do/did you simultaneously consume	
	alcohol (i.e., consuming alcohol and	
	<u>cannabis</u> on the same occasion)?	

	For example, if you consumed cannabis on average 4 times a week, and on average simultaneously consumed alcohol 1 of those times, your answer would be the following: 25 %.	
5	Have you ever used nicotine (e.g., cigarettes, cigars, etc.) in your lifetime?  Skip logic 1: If "Yes" is answered in Q5, participant goes to Q6. If "No" is answered in Q5, participant skips to Q8.	0. No 1. Yes
6	Have you ever <b>used nicotine simultaneously with cannabis</b> (i.e., administering nicotine and cannabis on the same occasion)? <b>Skip logic 1:</b> If "Yes" is answered in Q6, participant goes to Q7. If "No" is answered in Q6, participant skips to Q8.	0. No 1. Yes
7	When you use(d) cannabis, what percentage of those times on average do/did you simultaneously consume nicotine (i.e., consuming nicotine and cannabis on the same occasion)?  For example, if you consumed cannabis on average 4 times a week, and on average simultaneously consumed nicotine 1 of those times, your answer would be the following: 25 %.	% (numerical)

# Appendix D

# Adverse Reactions Scale

Instructions: We are interested in whether you have experienced any of the following adverse reactions to acute cannabis intoxication. When providing your answers please only consider times when you were high on cannabis and when the symptom was a direct result of cannabis.

#	Question	Response Format
1	Anxiety	Yes/No
2	Panic Attack	Yes/No
3	Feeling out of control	Yes/No
4	Migraine/Headache	Yes/No
5	Vomiting	Yes/No
6	Nausea	Yes/No
7	Cold Sweats	Yes/No
8	Hot Flash	Yes/No
9	Tunnel Vision	Yes/No
10	Dizzy	Yes/No
11	Light headed/head rush	Yes/No
12*	Off balance/unsteady	Yes/No
13	Seeing black spots	Yes/No
14	Fainting/passing out	Yes/No
15	Racing heart	Yes/No
16	Heart palpitations/arrhythmia	Yes/No
17	Chest/lung discomfort	Yes/No
18	Trouble breathing	Yes/No
19	Coughing fit	Yes/No
20	Paranoia	Yes/No
21	Auditory hallucinations	Yes/No
22	Visual hallucinations	Yes/No
23	Other hallucinations	Yes/No
24	Dissociation (i.e. feeling disconnected from self or reality)	Yes/No
25*	Numbness	Yes/No
26*	Feelings of body humming or vibrating	Yes/No
27**	Cutaneous (i.e., skin) sensitivity	Yes/No
28**	Misophonia (i.e., negative reaction(s) to specific common sound(s))	Yes/No
29**	Hyperosmia (i.e., enhanced smelling abilities)	Yes/No

Display these questions for any symptoms for which [Yes] is selected above:

#	Question	Response Format
1	Approximately what percentage of the time that you use	% (numerical)
	cannabis do you experience [symptom name (e.g.	
	Anxiety)]?	
2	On average, how distressing was experiencing	0 = Not at all distressing
	[symptom name (e.g. Anxiety)] while under the influence	1 = Mildly distressing
	of cannabis?	2 = Moderately distressing
		3 = Quite distressing
		4 = Severely distressing

<sup>\*</sup>Authors of this scale have suggested that these items may be taken out for future research studies.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Exploratory adverse reactions added and not from the original "Adverse Reactions Scale". These items were not included in the analyses of this study.

# Appendix E

# Positive and Negative Affect Schedule

Please rate how you feel in general, that is on average, for each of the following words:

#	Question	Response Format
1	Enthusiastic	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
2	Interested	1. Very slightly or not at all 2. A little 3. Moderately 4. Quite a bit 5. Extremely
3	Determined	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
4	Excited	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
5	Inspired	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
6	Alert	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
7	Active	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> </ol>

		<ul><li>4. Quite a bit</li><li>5. Extremely</li></ul>
8	Strong	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
9	Proud	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
10	Attentive	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
11	Scared	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
12	Afraid	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
13	Upset	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
14	Distressed	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
15	Jittery	1. Very slightly or not at all

16	M	<ul> <li>2. A little</li> <li>3. Moderately</li> <li>4. Quite a bit</li> <li>5. Extremely</li> </ul>
16	Nervous	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
17	Ashamed	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
18	Guilty	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
19	Irritable	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>
20	Hostile	<ol> <li>Very slightly or not at all</li> <li>A little</li> <li>Moderately</li> <li>Quite a bit</li> <li>Extremely</li> </ol>

# Appendix F

# Desirability Scale – Personality Research Form

Read each statement and decide whether or not it describes you. If you agree with the statement or decide that it does describe you, answer TRUE. If you disagree with a statement or feel that it is not descriptive of you, answer FALSE. Answer every item either true or false, even if you are not completely sure of your answer.

#	Question	Response Format
1	I am quite able to make correct decisions on difficult questions.	0. False 1. True
2	I am never able to do things as well as I should.	0. False 1. True
3	My life is full of interesting activities.	0. False 1. True
4	I believe people tell lies any time it is to their advantage.	0. False 1. True
5	If someone gave me too much change, I would tell him.	0. False 1. True
6	I would be willing to do something a little unfair to get something that was important to me.	0. False 1. True
7	I get along with people at parties quite well.	<ul><li>0. False</li><li>1. True</li></ul>
8	I did many very bad things as a child.	<ul><li>0. False</li><li>1. True</li></ul>
9	I am glad I grew up the way I did.	<ul><li>0. False</li><li>1. True</li></ul>
10	I often question whether life is worthwhile.	<ul><li>0. False</li><li>1. True</li></ul>
11	I am always prepared to do what is expected of me.	<ul><li>0. False</li><li>1. True</li></ul>
12	My daily life includes many activities I dislike.	<ul><li>0. False</li><li>1. True</li></ul>
13	I am one of the lucky people who could talk with my parents about my problems.	<ul><li>0. False</li><li>1. True</li></ul>
14	Many things make me feel uneasy.	0. False 1. True
15	I am careful to plan for my distant goals.	0. False 1. True
16	I find it very difficult to concentrate.	0. False 1. True

# Appendix G

# Infrequency Scale – Personality Research Form

Read each statement and decide whether or not it describes you. If you agree with the statement or decide that it does describe you, answer TRUE. If you disagree with a statement or feel that it is not descriptive of you, answer FALSE. Answer every item either true or false, even if you are not completely sure of your answer.

#	Question	Response Format
1	I have never bought anything in a store.	0. False
2	I could easily count from one to twenty-five.	1. True 0. False
		1. True
3	I can run a mile (1.6 km) in less than four minutes.	0. False
4	I have never talked to anyone by telephone.	1. True 0. False
7	Thave hever tarked to anyone by telephone.	1. True
5	I usually wear something warm when I go outside on a very cold	0. False
	day.	1. True
6	I make all my own clothes and shoes.	<ul><li>0. False</li><li>1. True</li></ul>
7	I have never brushed or cleaned my teeth.	0. False
	·	1. True
8	Things with sugar in them usually taste sweet to me.	0. False
		1. True
9	Sometimes I see cars near my home.	<ul><li>0. False</li><li>1. True</li></ul>
10	I have navenhad any hair on my haad	0. False
10	I have never had any hair on my head.	1. True
11	I have traveled away from my hometown.	0. False
		1. True
12	I have never ridden in an automobile.	0. False
		1. True
13	I have never felt sad.	0. False
1.4	T	1. True
14	I try to get at least some sleep every night.	<ul><li>0. False</li><li>1. True</li></ul>
15	Sometimes I feel thirsty or hungry.	0. False
		1. True
16	I have attended school at some time during my life.	0. False
		1. True

Appendix H

Cannabis Use During COVID-19 Restrictions Information Questionnaire

Term	Definition	
Cannabis (e.g., marijuana,	Refers to the generic name for drugs or compounds that come	
weed, THC, CBD) from plants belonging to the genus <i>Cannabis</i> .		
COVID-19 restrictions:	Refers to a period of time of measures set in place (e.g.,	
	physical distancing, travel bans, closed borders, lockdowns,	
	etc.) to restrict human contact because of the Coronavirus	
	disease 2019 (COVID-19) disease which was upgraded to	
	pandemic status on March 11 <sup>th</sup> , 2020 by the World Health	
	Organization (WHO).	

#	Question	Response Format
1	Have you experienced a lockdown, or other similar type of government-imposed restrictions, during the COVID-19 pandemic?	0. No 1. Yes
	Skip logic 1: If participant endorses "No", participant skips to end of COVID-19 Information Questionnaire. If participant endorses "Yes", participant will be directed to Q2.	
2	During the COVID-19 restrictions, how would you describe the frequency (i.e., different sessions) of your <i>cannabis</i> consumption?	1. I have <u>decreased</u> the frequency of my <i>cannabis</i> consumption during the COVID-19 restrictions.
	Skip logic 1: If participant endorses Q2 (1), participant will be directed Q3 and will skip Q4.	2. My <i>cannabis</i> consumption frequency has <u>not changed</u> during the COVID-19
	Skip logic 2: If participant endorses Q2 (2), participant will skip Q3 and be directed to Q4.	restrictions. 3. I have <u>increased</u> the frequency of my <i>cannabis</i> consumption
	Skip logic 3: If participant endorses Q2 (3), participant will skip Q3 & Q4 and be directed to Q5.	during the COVID-19 restrictions.
3	If the frequency of your <i>cannabis</i> consumption has <u>increased</u> during the COVID-19 restrictions, how often do you consume <i>cannabis</i> ?	<ol> <li>Less than once a month</li> <li>Once a month</li> <li>Once a week</li> <li>Two or more times a week</li> </ol>
		<ul><li>5. Once daily</li><li>6. Multiple times daily</li></ul>

4	If the frequency of your <i>cannabis</i> consumption	1.	Less than once a month
	has <u>decreased</u> during the COVID-19	2.	Once a month
	restrictions, how often do you consume	3.	Once a week
	cannabis?	4.	Two or more times a week
		5.	Once daily
		6.	Multiple times daily
5	Have you consumed a <i>cannabis product</i> for the	0.	No
	<b>first time</b> during the COVID-19 pandemic?	1.	Yes
6	During the COVID-19 restrictions, how would	1.	I have experienced a decline in
	you describe your mental health overall?		my <i>mental health</i> overall
			during the COVID-19
			restrictions.
		2.	My mental health overall has
			not changed during the
			COVID-19 restrictions.
		3.	I have experienced an
			improvement in my mental
			<i>health</i> overall during the
			COVID-19 restrictions.

# Appendix I

# Email to Lakehead University Professors and Students

Hello [insert professor name here],

My name is Shayna Cummings and I am currently recruiting volunteers to participate in my master's thesis project, **The Cannabis Experiences Study** (**The CAN-E Study**), conducted under the supervision of Dr. Mazmanian.

We would greatly appreciate your willingness to send the following information to your students.

Please feel free to contact myself if you have any questions.

Thank you,
Shayna

Hello Undergraduate/Graduate Student,

My name is Shayna Cummings and I am currently recruiting volunteers to participate in my master's thesis project, **The Cannabis Experiences Study** (**The CAN-E Study**), conducted under the supervision of Dr. Mazmanian.

The main purpose of this study is to examine individuals' short-term reactions to cannabis use.

# **Format and Time Requirement:**

- Online survey
- No more than 1 hour

#### **Compensation:**

- You may select one out of the following two options:
  - 1. Earn 1 bonus mark towards any psychology course accepting bonus credits.
  - 2. If you are ineligible or do not want a bonus mark, you may **enter in a draw for a chance to win 1 out of 5 \$20.00 electronic gift cards**. If you enter into the draw and win, you will have the choice of either a Chapters or Boston Pizza electronic gift card.

# **Eligibility:**

- Any sex or gender
- 18 years of age or older
- Past/current cannabis user OR non-cannabis user (i.e., have never tried cannabis in your lifetime)

If you are interested in participating and are a Lakehead University student taking at least one <a href="mailto:psychologycourse">psychologycourse</a>, click: <a href="https://lupsych.sona-systems.com/">https://lupsych.sona-systems.com/</a> to access our study through the Lakehead Sona System, under the project titled, The Cannabis Experiences Study – The CAN-E Study.

If you have any further questions regarding this study, you may contact myself:

Shayna Cummings – slcummin@lakeheadu.ca

Thank you!

## Appendix J

# Poster for Participant Recruitment

# RECRUITING PARTICIPANTS

# The Cannabis Experiences Study — The CAN-E Study





## **Purpose:**

Investigating people's short-term reactions to cannabis use.





# Length:



No more than 1 hour

# Compensation:



One bonus mark towards any Lakehead University psychology course accepting bonus credits.

#### or





Enter in a draw for a chance to win 1 out of 5 \$20.00 CDN electronic gift cards (i.e., Indigo or Boston Pizza)

# Format:

Web-based survey, hosted by SurveyMonkey



# **Eligibility:**



18 years of age or older



Any sex or gender



Past/current cannabis user



Non-cannabis user (i.e., have never tried cannabis in your lifetime)

# **How to Complete:**

FOR LAKEHEAD UNIVERSITY STUDENTS TAKING AT LEAST ONE PSYCHOLOGY COURSE:

https://lupsych.sona-systems.com/ login, then go to the study titled, "The Cannabis Experiences Study -The CAN-E Study".



#### Contacts:

Shayna Cummings, HBSc, MSc Psychological Science student, slcummin@lakeheadu.ca Dwight Mazmanian, PhD, CPsych, dwight.mazmanian@lakeheadu.ca



## Appendix K

# Information Letter [General Public]

# Dear Potential Participant,

Thank you for your interest in the "The Cannabis Experiences Study" (The CAN-E Study). This study is being conducted by Shayna Cummings, a MSc Psychological Science student, and is supervised by Dr. Dwight Mazmanian, a full-time faculty member in the Department of Psychology at Lakehead University. Your participation in this study will help us better understand the short-term effects of cannabis use. Before you decide to take part in this study, please carefully review the information below to understand what is involved.

# What is the purpose of the study?

The main purpose of this study is to examine participants' short-term effects from cannabis. This study will ask questions about your cannabis experiences, but participants do NOT have to use cannabis to participate.

# How long will the study take to complete?

This survey is not expected to last longer than 1 hour. It is online and hosted on the SurveyMonkey platform, so you may complete it at a time and location of your choosing. If you have any questions about this study, please contact the research team.

## **Contact Information:**

If you would like to contact the research team, please send an email to the Student Investigator (Shayna Cummings) or the Principal Investigator (Dr. Dwight Mazmanian):

- hhab.laboratory@gmail.com (Shayna Cummings, HBSc, MSc Psychological Science student)
- dmazmani@lakeheadu.ca (Dwight Mazmanian, PhD, CPsych)

# Is the study anonymous?

This study is anonymous. No identifying information will be collected. As no identifying information will be collected, no identifying information will be alongside or associated with any of the data, analyses, or methods of dissemination. For publication purposes, all survey information and responses will be securely stored at Lakehead University for five years. Please note, however, that the online survey tool used in the study (SurveyMonkey.com) is hosted by a server located in the USA. The US Patriot Act permits U.S. law enforcement officials, for the purpose of anti-terrorism investigation, to seek a court order that allows access to the personal records of any person without the person's knowledge. In view of this we cannot absolutely guarantee the full anonymity of your data. With your consent to participate in this study, you acknowledge this.

# Do I have the right to decline to answer any questions?

Participants maintain the right to decline to answer any question(s). Your participation in this research is completely voluntary, and if you choose not to participate, you may do so without consequence or the need to explain why. You may also discontinue your participation at any time without explanation or penalty. Once you submit your data it cannot be withdrawn due to its anonymity.

# What will the survey be used for?

Participant responses will be used for the thesis of the student investigator, Shayna Cummings. The study findings will also be used for research publications and/or presentations at conferences. Your identity will remain anonymous throughout these processes as well. Researchers who will have access to the data will be limited to Shayna Cummings (MSc Psychological Science Student), Casey Oliver (MA Clinical Psychology Student), Erika Puiras (MA Clinical Psychology Student), and Dr. Dwight Mazmanian.

# How can you benefit from this study?

Potential benefits include participating in research that aims to help in better predicting some cannabis short-term reactions. As a "thank you" for participating in this research, you may enter into a draw to win one of ten \$25 (CAD) electronic gift cards of your choosing (Indigo, Tim Hortons, or Walmart). If you enter into the draw to win the electronic gift card, you will be asked for your email address in order to be contacted and sent the electronic gift card should you win. This email address will not be associated with your responses.

# What are the risks of participating in this study?

There are no known physical risks associated with participating. However, some of the material in the survey asks questions on sensitive subject matter that might result in some minor psychological discomfort for some people. If this occurs, please contact the Crisis Services Canada phoneline at 1-833-456-4566.

## Can I see the results?

A summary of the research findings may also be available to you once the study is completed. Please note that it might take up to 1 year from the time of your participation before the study is completed and the findings are available. If you wish to receive a summary of the findings, please provide your email address to the researcher at the end of the survey. Your email address will not be linked to your survey responses.

#### **Ethics Information:**

This study has been approved by the Lakehead University Research Ethics Board. If you have any questions related to the ethics of the research and would like to speak to someone outside of

the research team, please contact Sue Wright at the Research Ethics Board at 1-807-343-8283 or research@lakeheadu.ca.

# Thank you for your interest and participation, it is greatly appreciated! Consent Form for Participants

## **MY CONSENT:**

I have read the information letter and I agree to the following:

- I have read and understand the information contained in the information letter.
- I agree to participate.
- I understand the risks and benefits to the study.
- That I am a volunteer and can withdraw from the study at any time and may choose not to answer any question. (Please note that after you submit your responses they cannot be retrieved due to the anonymous nature of the study.)
- That the data will be securely stored at Lakehead University for a minimum of 5 years following completion of the research project.
- I understand that the research findings will be made available to me upon request. We anticipate the study results will be available within 1 year after you complete the study.
- I will remain anonymous.
- All of my questions related to the study have been answered.

By consenting to participate, I have not waived any rights to legal recourse in the event of research-related harm.

I have read and agree to the above information, **I am at least 18 years of age**, and by completing and submitting this study agree to participate.

If you consent to participate in the study, please click the "Next" button at the bottom of the page to continue.

# Appendix L

# Information Letter [Lakehead University Students]

# **Dear Potential Participant,**

Thank you for your interest in the "The Cannabis Experiences Study" (The CAN-E Study). This study is being conducted by Shayna Cummings, a MSc Psychological Science student, and is supervised by Dr. Dwight Mazmanian, a full-time faculty member in the Department of Psychology at Lakehead University. Your participation in this study will help us better understand the short-term effects of cannabis use. Before you decide to take part in this study, please carefully review the information below to understand what is involved.

# What is the purpose of the study?

The purpose of this study is to examine participants' short-term effects from cannabis. This study will ask questions about your cannabis experiences, but participants do NOT have to use cannabis to participate.

# How long will the study take to complete?

This survey is not expected to last longer than 1 hour. It is online and hosted on the SurveyMonkey platform, so you may complete it at a time and location of your choosing. If you have any questions about this study, please contact one of the research team members.

## **Contact Information:**

If you would like to contact the research team, please send an email to the Student Investigator (Shayna Cummings) or the Principal Investigator (Dr. Dwight Mazmanian):

- slcummin@lakeheadu.ca (Shayna Cummings, HBSc, MSc Psychological Science student)
- dmazmani@lakeheadu.ca (Dwight Mazmanian, PhD, CPsych)

# Is the study anonymous?

This study is anonymous. No identifying information will be collected. As no identifying information will be collected, no identifying information will be alongside or associated with any of the data, analyses, or methods of dissemination. For publication purposes, all survey information and responses will be securely stored at Lakehead University for five years. Please note, however, that the online survey tool used in the study (SurveyMonkey.com) is hosted by a server located in the USA. The US Patriot Act permits U.S. law enforcement officials, for the purpose of anti-terrorism investigation, to seek a court order that allows access to the personal records of any person without the person's knowledge. In view of this we cannot absolutely guarantee the full anonymity of your data. With your consent to participate in this study, you acknowledge this.

# Do I have the right to decline to answer any questions?

Participants maintain the right to decline to answer any question(s). Your participation in this research is completely voluntary, and if you choose not to participate, you may do so without consequence or the need to explain why. You may also discontinue your participation at any time without explanation or penalty. Once you submit your data it cannot be withdrawn due to its anonymity.

# What will the survey be used for?

Participant responses will be used for the thesis of the student investigator, Shayna Cummings. The study findings will also be used for research publications and/or presentations at conferences. Your identity will remain anonymous throughout these processes as well. Researchers who will have access to the data will be limited to Shayna Cummings (MSc Psychological Science Student), Casey Oliver (MA Clinical Psychology Student), Erika Puiras (MA Clinical Psychology Student), and Dr. Dwight Mazmanian.

# How can you benefit from this study?

Potential benefits include participating in research that aims to help in better predicting some cannabis short-term reactions. As a "thank you" for participating in this research, you may choose to be entered into a draw to win one of five \$20 (CDN) electronic gift cards or, if you are a student at Lakehead University, you may elect to receive one bonus mark towards an eligible psychology course. If you choose to be entered into the draw to win the gift card, you will be asked for your email address so you can be contacted if you win. This email will not be associated with your responses. If you choose to receive the bonus mark, your instructor at Lakehead University must allow the acquisition of bonus marks and you must sign up through the Sona System.

# What are the risks of participating in this study?

There are no known physical risks associated with participating. However, some of the material in the survey asks questions on sensitive subject matter that might result in some minor psychological discomfort for some people. If this occurs, please contact the Canadian Mental Health Association at 416-646-5557. You may also contact Crisis Services Canada at 1-833-456-4566. If you are a student at Lakehead University, you may also contact Student Health and Wellness at 1-807-343-8361 (Thunder Bay) or at 1-705-330- 4008 ext. 2116 (Orillia).

# Can I see the results?

A summary of the research findings may also be available to you once the study is completed. Please note that it might take up to 1 year from the time of your participation before the study is completed and the findings are available. If you wish to receive a summary of the findings, please provide your email address to the researcher at the end of the survey. Your email address will not be linked to your survey responses.

#### **Ethics Information:**

This study has been approved by the Lakehead University Research Ethics Board. If you have any questions related to the ethics of the research and would like to speak to someone outside of the research team, please contact Sue Wright at the Research Ethics Board at 1-807-343-8283 or research@lakeheadu.ca.

# Thank you for your interest and participation, it is greatly appreciated!

# Consent Form for Participants

## **MY CONSENT:**

I have read the information letter and I agree to the following:

- I have read and understand the information contained in the information letter.
- I agree to participate.
- I understand the risks and benefits to the study.
- That I am a volunteer and can withdraw from the study at any time and may choose not to answer any question. (Please note that after you submit your responses they cannot be retrieved due to the anonymous nature of the study.)
- That the data will be securely stored at Lakehead University for a minimum of 5 years following completion of the research project.
- I understand that the research findings will be made available to me upon request. We anticipate the study results will be available within 1 year after you complete the study.
- I will remain anonymous.
- All of my questions related to the study have been answered.

By consenting to participate, I have not waived any rights to legal recourse in the event of research-related harm.

I have read and agree to the above information, **I am at least 18 years of age**, and by completing and submitting this study agree to participate.

If you consent to participate in the study, please click the "Next" button at the bottom of the page to continue.

# Appendix M

Debriefing Form [General Public] (Please print this page for your information)

Thank you for your participation in this research project on short-term cannabis reactions and cannabis experiences. We hope that this study will help provide information about potential predictors of short-term cannabis reactions. Information on potential predictors of cannabis short-term reactions may better inform and help inexperienced cannabis users, physicians, and public health officials.

# Information about study results:

A summary of the results can be made available to you by email once the study has been completed. If you are interested in receiving these results, please email the Student Investigator, Shayna Cummings, at [hhab.laboratory@gmail.com] with the subject heading "Results Summary Request for CAN-E Study". We will email you a copy of the Results Summary once it is available. Please note that this may take up to 1 year from the time of your participation.

## **Electronic Gift Card Draw:**

In order to show our appreciation for participating in this research, you may choose to be entered into a draw to win one of ten \$25 (CAD) electronic gift cards of your choosing (Indigo, Tim Hortons, or Walmart). If you enter into the draw to win the electronic gift card, you will be asked for your email address in order to be contacted and sent the electronic gift card should you win. If you do not wish to enter the draw, click "DONE" to exit the survey.

#### **Contact Information:**

If you have specific questions about the survey, you may contact the Student Investigator, Shayna Cummings, [hhab.laboratory@gmail.com] or the Principal Investigator, Dwight Mazmanian, PhD, CPsych, [dmazmani@lakeheadu.ca, 807-343-8257].

## **Other Resources:**

If completing this survey has raised any issues about mental health concerns that you would like to discuss, you may contact the Crisis Services Canada phoneline at 1-833-456-4566.

## Thank you for your participation!

Click **HERE** to enter your email for the electronic gift card draw.

Please note that clicking on the above link will bring you to a new page that is not connected to the survey results. Therefore, if you choose to add your email for the electronic gift card draw, it will not be associated with your previous responses, which will remain anonymous.

# (On a separate page).

# **Gift Card Draw:**

If you would like to be entered into the draw for an electronic gift card, please include your email address below in order to be contacted and sent the electronic gift card should you win.

Email:

Thank you for participating in this study!

# Appendix N

Debriefing Form [Lakehead University Students] (Please print this page for your information)

# Thank you for your participation in this research project on short-term cannabis reactions.

We hope that this study will help provide information about potential predictors of short-term cannabis reactions. Information on potential predictors of cannabis short-term reactions may better inform and help inexperienced cannabis users, physicians, and public health officials.

# Information about study results:

A summary of the results can be made available to you by email once the study has been completed. If you are interested in receiving these results, please email the Student Investigator, Shayna Cummings, at [slcummin@lakeheadu.ca] with the subject heading "Results Summary Request". We will email you a copy of the Results Summary once it is available. Please note that this may take up to 1 year from the time of your participation.

#### **Bonus Mark or Gift Card Draw:**

In order to show our appreciation for participating in this research, you may choose to be entered into a draw to win one of five \$20 (CDN) electronic gift cards, or you may choose to receive one bonus mark towards an eligible Lakehead University psychology course if you are a student at Lakehead University. If you choose to be entered into the draw to win the gift card, you will be asked for your email address in order to be contacted if you win. Your instructor must allow the acquisition of bonus marks to receive one from this study. If you do not wish to enter the draw, click "DONE" to exit the survey.

#### **Contact Information:**

If you have specific questions about the survey, you may contact the Student Investigator, Shayna Cummings, [slcummin@lakeheadu.ca] or the Principle Investigator, Dwight Mazmanian, PhD, CPsych, [dmazmani@lakeheadu.ca, 807-343-8257].

# **Other Resources:**

If completing this survey has raised any issues about mental health concerns that you would like to discuss, you may contact the Canadian Mental Health Association at 416-646-5557. You may also contact Crisis Services Canada at 1-833-456-4566. If you are a student at Lakehead University, you may also contact Student Health and Wellness at 1-807-343-8361 (Thunder Bay) or at 1-705-330- 4008 ext. 2116 (Orillia).

# Thank you for your participation!

Click **HERE** to enter your email for the gift card draw.

Please note that clicking on <u>the above link will bring you to a new page that is not connected to the survey results.</u> Therefore, if you choose to add your email for the gift card draw, it will not be associated with your previous responses, which will remain anonymous.